Heidi Hellstrand

Early Numeracy Development:

Identifying and Supporting Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties





Heidi Hellstrand

Master of Education (special education and subject teacher in mathematics) Åbo Akademi University, 2008

Heidi Hellstrand is currently working as a university teacher in Special Education at Åbo Akademi University, Faculty of Education and Welfare Studies. She has several years of teaching experience from Vasa övningsskola (teacher in special education and subject teacher in mathematics) and teacher education programme at Åbo Akademi University, as well as working in different bilingual national research projects. Hellstrands research interests include mathematical learning and mathematical learning difficulties in early school years.

Portrait photo: Anna Widlund

EARLY NUMERACY DEVELOPMENT



Early Numeracy Development:

Identifying and Supporting Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties

Heidi Hellstrand

Special Education Faculty of Education and Welfare Studies Åbo Akademi University Turku, Finland, 2021

Supervised by

Associate Professor Johan Korhonen Faculty of Education and Welfare Studies Åbo Akademi University, Finland

Docent Karin Linnanmäki Faculty of Education and Welfare Studies Åbo Akademi University, Finland

Professor Pirjo Aunio Faculty of Educational Sciences Helsinki University, Finland

Reviewed by

Associate Professor Dieter Baeyens Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences KU Leuven, Belgium

Professor Kerry Lee Faculty of Education and Human Development The Education University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong

Opponent

Associate Professor Dieter Baeyens Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences KU Leuven, Belgium

ISBN 978-952-12-4055-3 (printed) ISBN 978-952-12-4056-0 (digital) Painosalama Oy, Turku, Finland 2021

Abstract

Early numeracy skills are important for later mathematical learning. Already in kindergarten and the early school years there are large individual differences in children's early numeracy skills. Early identification and support are argued to potentially decrease later mathematical learning difficulties. However, this puts a high demand on the tools for identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. This thesis, therefore, aims to contribute to the research on early numeracy skills development by focusing on identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten and during the early school years. This aim has been achieved by investigating how early numeracy skills develop and are interrelated, examining the psychometric criteria of an early numeracy test, and investigate the effects of a computer-assisted intervention program on children's early numeracy skills.

This thesis is based on three substudies (Studies I, II and III). Study I investigated how early numeracy skills (symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge, understanding mathematical relations, counting skills and basic skills in arithmetic) develop and are interrelated, in order to reach an understanding of which early numeracy skills at the beginning of the school year, predicted later early numeracy performance. Study II focused on assessment for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties by examining the psychometric criteria of the Early Numeracy test. The reliability (internal consistency) and validity (structural validity, known group validity, and cross-cultural validity) evidence were investigated. Study III examined the effects of supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties using the evidencebased Number Race computer game in a computer-assisted intervention in an authentic school setting. All three substudies were based on data collected in kindergarten (n = 361), first grade (n = 321) and second grade (n = 457) during one school year.

The results from Study I indicated that counting skills in the beginning of first grade was an important predictor of later early numeracy skills while basic arithmetic skills emerged as a key predictor of later early numeracy skills in both first and second grades. Latent profile analysis identified three early numeracy profiles that differed in the early numeracy skills in the beginning of the school year: well-performing, average-performing, and at risk for mathematical learning. Low-performing children showed deficits in all early numeracy subskills and were unable to close the gap to their average- or well-performing peers during the school year. Study II supported the reliability and validity evidence of the Early Numeracy test, indicating that the test can fulfil its purpose to identify children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten, first

grade and second grade. This test can also specifically describe children's performances, as it defines and interprets the various early numeracy subskills as different factors. Study III revealed no statistically significant effect of the Number Race-intervention on the low-performing children's early numeracy skills. At none of the three assessment time points did the low-performing groups differ significantly from the low-performing comparison group, which only received ordinary classroom instruction in mathematics during the intervention period. These findings highlighted the importance of developing targeted interventions, which will be easy to implement in the general classroom to enhance children's early numeracy skills.

Combining the findings of the three substudies ca provide additional empirical evidence for the model of core early numeracy skills: symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge, understanding mathematical relations, counting skills and basic skills in arithmetic (Aunio & Räsänen, 2016). This model of core early numeracy skills can provide a working model for educational practice, in which assessment and instruction are brought closer together to improve educational practise and provide all children with foundational early numeracy skills.

Keywords: assessment, at risk, computer-assisted intervention, early numeracy development, evidence-based educational practice, low performance, mathematical learning difficulties, validation

Abstrakt

Tidiga grundläggande matematiska färdigheter är betydelsefulla för fortsatt lärande i matematik. Redan i förskola och nybörjarundervisning finns det stora individuella skillnader i barns matematiska färdigheter. Tidig identifiering och tidiga stödåtgärder har påvisats kunna förebygga och minska på fortsatta svårigheter i matematik. Syftet med denna avhandling är att bidra med kunskap om utvecklingen av barns tidiga grundläggande matematiska färdigheter genom att lyfta fram identifiering och stöd för barn i risk för matematiska inlärningssvårigheter i förskola och nybörjarundervisning. Syftet nås genom att studera hur tidiga grundläggande matematiska färdigheter samspelar och utvecklas, de psykometriska kriterierna för ett kartläggningsverktyg för identifiering av ett behov av stöd samt effekten av datorbaserat interventionsprogram för att stärka barns tal- och antalsuppfattning.

Denna avhandling bygger på tre delstudier. Den första delstudien fokuserade på hur tidiga grundläggande matematiska färdigheter (tal- och antalsuppfattning, förståelse för matematiska samband, räknefärdigheter och aritmetiska basfärdigheter) samspelade och vilka delfärdigheter i början av årskurs ett och två förutspådde prestationerna i slutet av läsåret dessa färdigheter utvecklades för barn prestationsprofiler. Den andra delstudien fokuserade på identifiering av barn i risk för matematiska inlärningssvårigheter genom att studera de psykometriska egenskaperna för kartläggningsverktyget Lukimat (Early Numeracy test) ämnat för barn i förskola, årskurs 1 och årskurs 2. Kartläggningsverktygets psykometriska kriterier granskades genom att ta fasta på reliabiliteten (intern konsistens) och validiteten (strukturell validitet, grupptillhörighetsvaliditet och tvärkulturell validitet). Den tredie delstudien studerade effekten av en datorbaserad intervention med datorspelet "Tal i farten" för lågpresterande barn i årskurs 1. Datorspelet "Tal i farten" är utvecklat för att specifikt stärka barns tal- och antalsuppfattning. Delstudierna i denna avhandling baserar sig på datainsamling i finlandssvenska förskolor och skolor där totalt 361 barn i förskola, 321 barn i årskurs 1 och 457 barn i årskurs 2 deltog.

Resultaten från den första delstudien visade att räknefärdigheter och aritmetiska färdigheter var de starkaste prediktorerna för prestationerna i slutet av läsåret i årskurs 1, medan aritmetiska färdigheter utgjorde den starkaste prediktorn i årskurs 2. Med latenta profilanalyser identifierades i början av läsåret i årskurserna 1 och 2 tre prestationsgrupper: hög-, medeloch lågpresterande. Barnen som tillhörde den lågpresterande gruppen uppvisade bristande färdigheter inom alla fyra färdighetsområden (tal- och antalsuppfattning, förståelse för matematiska samband, räknefärdigheter och aritmetiska basfärdigheter) under hela läsåret. I båda årskurserna var skillnaderna mellan alla prestationsgrupperna signifikanta såväl i början

som i mitten och i slutet av läsåret, vilket indikerar att klyftan mellan de lågpresterande och de medelpresterande barnen inte minskade under läsårets gång. Resultaten från den andra delstudien ger belägg för att Lukimat-kartläggningsmaterialet kan ses som lämpligt för att identifiera barn i risk för matematiska inlärningssvårigheter. De psykometriska kriterierna uppfylls genom att den interna konsistensen (reliabiliteten) och strukturella validiteten är goda. Vidare visar grupptillhörighetsvaliditeten att kartläggningsmaterialet fungerar för såväl flickor som pojkar och yngre som äldre barn inom gruppen och den tvärkulturella validiteten visar att kartläggningsmaterialet fungerar oberoende skolspråk (svenska och finska). Kartläggningsmaterialets styrka är att det inte enbart identifierar de barn som behöver stöd utan också visar vilka delfärdigheter som stödet behöver fokuseras på. Resultaten från den första delstudien gav ytterligare belägg för kartläggningsmaterialets prediktiva validitet. Resultaten från den tredje delstudien visade inte på några signifikanta framsteg för de lågpresterande barnen i årskurs 1 som deltog i interventionen med datorspelet "Tal i farten". Dessa resultat belyser vikten av skräddarsydda interventioner som utgår från barnets individuella behov. Därmed behövs olika typer av forskningsbaserade interventionsprogram som stärker barns tidiga grundläggande matematiska färdigheter.

Sammantaget belyser resultaten från avhandlingens tre delstudier vikten av tidig och kontinuerlig kartläggning av tidiga grundläggande matematiska färdigheter samt skräddarsydda stödåtgärder för att på bästa sätt säkerställa att barn med risk för matematiska inlärningssvårigheter identifieras och får ändamålsenligt stöd. Kunskap om hur tidiga matematiska färdigheter samspelar och hur dessa färdigheter utvecklas borde ligga till grund för såväl undervisning som utveckling av forskningsbaserat material för kartläggning och intervention. Därtill ger resultaten empirisk grund för den pedagogiska modellen av Aunio och Räsänen (2016) med fyra grundläggande matematiska färdighetsområden: antalsuppfattning, förståelse för matematiska samband, räknefärdigheter och aritmetiska basfärdigheter. Modellen utgör en god pedagogisk modell att användas för att planera, förverkliga och utvärdera ändamålsenliga stödåtgärder. Då både kartläggning och stödåtgärder baseras på samma forskningsbaserade modell möjliggör det en närmare koppling mellan kartläggning och stödåtgärder, med målsättningen att säkerställa att alla barn får tillräckliga tidiga grundläggande matematiska färdigheter.

Nyckelord: datorstödd intervention, forskningsbaserad undervisning, kartläggning, lågpresterande, matematiska inlärningssvårigheter, tidiga grundläggande matematiska färdigheter, utveckling av matematiska färdigheter, validering

Acknowledgements

My long journey with this thesis is now reaching its end. I have been privileged to meet wonderful people, who have supported, encouraged, challenged and inspired me towards the completion of this work. I have realised the value of being surrounded by good people, who are driven to conduct strong research, who deeply appreciate science and who bolster, energise and motivate each other toward the same good. I owe thanks to many who, in different ways, have been a part of this journey.

First, I wish to express my sincere appreciation to my supervisors, Associate Professor Johan Korhonen, Docent Karin Linnanmäki and Professor Pirjo Aunio. Karin, I thank you for introducing me to the field of mathematical learning and learning difficulties and to the research in this field. I am grateful for your inspiration, which led me to start this journey, and for your continued support, guidance and encouragement. You also introduced me to my other supervisors, who opened new paths to the world of research for me. Pirjo, I am grateful to you for welcoming me to the LukiMat project at the very beginning and for, thereafter, guiding me along this journey. Thank you for inspiring, supporting, challenging, mentoring and pushing me forward, for sharing your knowledge and for seeing potential in my research, as well as in me as a researcher. Johan, your support and statistical expertise have been very significant to me from the beginning of the journey before you were my formal supervisor. I am grateful that you were willing to step in as my supervisor and am thankful for your pragmatic and supportive guidance. I am truly privileged to have had this wonderful team of supervisors.

I also owe my deepest gratitude to the reviewers of this thesis, Associate Professor Dieter Baeyens and Professor Kerry Lee. Thank you for your sharp, constructive and encouraging comments about my manuscript. Your comments have helped me improve the final version of this thesis. It is also a great honour to have Associate Professor Baeyens serve as my opponent for the public defence of this thesis.

During my doctoral studies, I have had the privilege to be a part of many research groups, with whom I shared the ups and downs of this journey. I, therefore, wish to thank the engaged and supportive group of doctoral candidates and postdoctoral researchers at Helsinki University: 'Pirjo's Team' – Riikka Mononen, Johan Korhonen, Eija Väisänen, Airi Hakkarainen, Ulrika Ekstam, Anna Widlund, Henrik Husberg, Pinja Jylänki, Anssi Vanhala and Terhi Vessonen. Thank you for taking the time to read, comment on and discuss my manuscripts, and thank you for our stimulating discussions and for sharing my interest in these exiting research topics.

I would also like to thank Professor Kristina Ström and my colleagues at the Department of Special Education, with whom I shared thoughts about research and educational practice in the special education field. Thank you Kristina, Christel Sundqvist, Anna Widlund, Ann-Katrine Risberg, Kajsa Lindström, Tanja Östman, Camilla Svens-Liavåg and Maria Rönn-Liljenfeldt for your peer support and encouragement. I also extend my thanks to all the doctoral candidates and researchers I have met during my doctoral studies, as well as those I met during my periods in the researchers' tower at the Tritonia Academic Library. Thank you for your inspiring discussions, your advice and the great moments we shared.

I feel privileged to be a part of the empowering and insightful group of doctoral candidates and postdoctoral researchers at Åbo Akademi University: 'Prosecco-klubben' – Heidi Höglund, Charlotta Hilli, Annika Pastuhov, Sofia Jusslin, Anna Widlund, Matilda Ståhl, Katrina Åkerholm, Ida Rebers, Mindy Svenlin and Jenny Haagensen. Thank you for both our academic and non-academic discussions, lined with bubbles, laughter and some tears. Thank you for your help and advice about anything and everything – from practical help with layouts (Thank you Sofia!) and photos (Thank you Anna and Matilda!), to bigger and deeper dilemmas concerning research and being a researcher (Thank you all!). I value and am grateful for our friendship. Special recognition goes to Anna Widlund, who has been a true rock and a sounding board in the final steps of my journey. Your sharp and critical eye has improved my work, and your encouragement and wise words have pushed and carried me forward. You inspire and motivate me, and I am proud and honoured to have you as a friend and colleague.

During this journey, in addition to my doctoral studies, I have worked on various other research projects and served as a special education and mathematics teacher. I wish to thank all my former colleagues at Vasa Övningsskola and in the Mathematics Education Department at the Faculty of Education and Welfare Studies for your collegial support and inspiring discussions. I also thank the entire LukiMat research group at the Niilo Mäki Institute for including me in the project. I would especially like to thank Tuire Koponen for your supportive guidance and Pekka Räsänen for being the co-writer of Study II and for improving the manuscript with your insightful comments.

This doctoral journey and data collection would not have been possible without financial support. I wish to express my gratitude to Högskolestiftelsen i Österbotten, Magnus Ehrnrooth Stiftelse, Nämnden för forskning och forskarutbildning vid Åbo Akademi, Svenska Kulturfonden and Svensk-Österbottniska Samfundet for giving me the opportunity to complete part-time and full-time periods of work on this thesis. The thesis would also have been impossible without the children and teachers who voluntarily participated in the data collection procedures. Thank you for your cooperation. I also wish to thank the research assistants, who helped me with the data collection.

Finally, I want to express my gratitude to my friends and family. Thanks to all my friends for offering well-needed balance in my life throughout the

journey, while still showing interest in my work. Thank you to my parents for always putting my sisters and me first and for teaching us to strive for what we believe in. Thank you, Ville, for being there, reminding me to keep my priorities in view and supporting me in good times and bad. And last, but most importantly, I thank my biggest supporters, challengers and sources of inspiration – my beloved daughters, Senni and Nelma! Ni är de värdefullaste jag har!

As I write these final words to this acknowledgement, I once again realise how lucky I am to be surrounded by all you good people – colleagues, friends and family. Each of you has made this journey much lighter, much brighter and more rewarding. I am grateful and expectant for the new journey that is about to begin.

Vaasa, March 2021

fleid fleth

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	1
	1.1 Early Numeracy Skills	3 6
	1.2 Identifying Children at risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties 1.2.1 Children at risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties 1.2.2 Assessment for Identifying Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties	11 g
	1.3 Supporting Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties 1.3.1 Computer Assisted Intervention for Supporting Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties	16
	1.4 The Present Study	
2.	Method	21
	2.1 Context	.21
	2.2 Participants and Procedure	.22
	2.3 Constructing the Early Numeracy test	.23
	2.4 The Intervention Program with the Number Race Game	.26
	2.5 Data Analysis	.27
	Analysis	
	2.5.3 Cronbach's Alpha	
	2.5.5 Latent Profile Analysis	
	2.5.6 Multivariate Regression Analysis	
3.	Overview of the Original Studies	31
	3.1 Study I	.32
	3.1.1 Aims	
	3.1.2 Participants, procedure, and measures	
	3.1.3 Analysis	
	3.1.5 Discussion	
	3.2 Study II	.35
	3.2.1 Aims	

3.2.2 Participants, procedure, and measures	35
3.2.3 Analysis	35
3.2.4 Results	35
3.2.5 Discussion	36
3.3 Study III 3	36
3.3.1 Aims	
3.3.2 Participants, procedure, and measures	37
3.3.3 Analysis	37
3.3.4 Results	37
3.3.5 Discussion	38
4. General Discussion 3	39
4.1 Development of Early Numeracy Core Skills during One School Year	
3	39
4.2 Identifying Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties with Evidence-based Assessment4	41
4.3 Supporting Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties with Computer Assisted Interventions4	43
4.4 Strengths and Limitations4	15
4.5 Implications for Educational Practice4	18
4.6 Conclusions4	19
References5	51
Appendix6	5 5

List of Original Publications

This thesis is based on the following three publications, referred to as substudies I, II, and III:

Study I: Hellstrand, H., Korhonen, J., & Aunio, P. (manuscript

revision). Development of early numeracy skills during first

and second grade.

Study II: Hellstrand, H., Korhonen, J., Linnanmäki, K., Räsänen, P.,

& Aunio, P. (2020). Reliability and validity evidence of early numeracy test for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 102, 101580.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2020.101580

Study III: Hellstrand, H., Korhonen, J., Linnanmäki, K., & Aunio, P.

(2020). The Number Race – computer-assisted intervention for mathematically low-performing first graders. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *35*(1), 85-99.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13488678.2019.1615792

The original publications are reprinted with the permission of the publishers. Copies of the original studies are appended in this thesis.

Author contribution

Heidi Hellstrand is the first author for all three manuscripts that are included in this doctoral thesis. Hellstrand is responsible for the data collection, all the data analysis, interpreting the results and written all the manuscripts under the supervision of Associate Professor Johan Korhonen, Docent Karin Linnanmäki, and Professor Pirjo Aunio.

List of Tables

Table 1 Overview of Theoretical Frameworks of Early Numeracy Skills
Development
Table 2 Number of Items and Reliability Coefficients in the Early Numeracy
Test
Table 3 Summary of Aims, Research Questions, Participants, Measures,
Statistical Methods, and Results of the Original Studies3

1. Introduction

Numeracy skills are highly important in modern everyday life, both for individuals and for society. Low numeracy skills can affect an individual's life in many ways: in daily activities (Geary, 2011; Jansen et al., 2016), vocational and educational choices (Jordan et al., 2015; Korhonen et al., 2014; Widlund et al., 2020), employment (Parsons & Bynner, 2005), socioeconomic status (Estrada-Mejia et al., 2016; Ritchie & Bates, 2013) and well-being (Widlund et al., 2018). For society, low numeracy skills can even have long-term effects on the national economy (Hanushek & Woessmann, 2010). Early numeracy skills start to develop from birth and evolve throughout our lifetime. The early years are highly important and form a foundation for later mathematical learning, as early numeracy is proposed to be a precursor of later mathematical skills (Aunio & Niemivirta, 2010; Geary et al., 2018; Jordan et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2020).

Already in kindergarten and the early school years, children show large individual differences in their early numeracy performance (Aunio & Niemivirta, 2010; Jordan et al., 2009). Some of the children are proficient and have grasped a wide range of early numeracy skills (e.g., number words, counting sequence, comparison of quantities and numbers, simple addition and subtraction), whereas others struggle in their development of early numeracy skills. Children who do not develop foundational early numeracy skills in their first school years are at risk for encountering mathematical difficulties (Clements & Sarama, 2014; Jordan et al., 2015). Previous studies also indicate that the gap between low-performing and average-performing children tends to persist and even grow wider across grades (Aunola et al., 2006; Geary, 2011). Luckily, adequate support at an early stage may prevent or reduce later mathematical learning difficulties (Fuchs et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2020). In order to support children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties at an early stage, educators need to identify the children in need of support. To be able to identify and support children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties, educators need evidence-based tools as well as guidance to improve their knowledge regarding what to focus on in mathematics (Clements & Sarama, 2014: Desoete et al., 2009). The assessment for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties should not only differentiate the children that are low-performing, but it should also give more detailed information that can be used for planning and conducting the support (Aunio, 2019). Intensive and individualised support that focuses on enhancing specific subskills is suggested to be beneficial for children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties (Zhang et al., 2020). Computer games can be a good way to provide children with intensive and individualised support. Computerassisted interventions (CAI) with adaptive computer games are suggested

to be advantageous ways to support children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties, offering practice in a motivational and entertaining context, providing direct feedback and multiple representations, and enabling progress at the child's own pace (Fengfeng, 2008; Kroesbergen & Van Luit 2003). Additionally, the practical advantage of computer assisted interventions is that they are independent of the educator and the educator can be freed to support other children. However, findings from previous CAI studies have reported contradictory findings of the effects of enhancing low-performing children's early numeracy skills (Mononen et al., 2014). Altogether, this highlights the importance of early identification and support, which puts high demands on the tools that are used to identify and support children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties.

This thesis aims to contribute to the research on early numeracy skills development by focusing on identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten and early school years with the aspiration to improve evidence-based educational practice. This thesis is based on three substudies (Studies I, II and III). Study I focuses on how early numeracy skills develop and are interrelated, in order to reach an understanding of which early numeracy skills predict later mathematical learning and are important to focus on when identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. Study II focuses on assessment for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties by examining the reliability (internal consistency) and validity (structural validity, known group validity, and cross-cultural validity) evidence of an early numeracy test. Study III focuses on examining the effects of supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties using the evidence-based Number Race computer game in a computerassisted intervention in an authentic school setting. In this thesis, "early numeracy" refers to the numeracy skills of children in kindergarten and early school years (ages 5-9). The term "kindergarten" is used for the oneyear education that is provided in Finland to all children the year before they enter primary school. "Early school years" refers to first and second grade in compulsory formal education. "Evidence-based practice" refers to the principle that educational practice (e.g., decisions, activities, and tools) should be based on research findings from objective, valid and scientific studies (Gregory, 2015; Hempenstall, 2006).

This present thesis consists of two parts. The first part includes a theoretical introduction, the aims and research questions, methods, an overview of the original studies and a discussion. The second part of the thesis consists of an overview of the three original articles. On due day, two of them are published and one is submitted to an international peer-reviewed journal. The introduction section aims to theoretically frame the subject of the thesis. First, the introduction focuses on early numeracy skills by presenting an overview of theoretical models operationalising early

numeracy skills, describing in more detail early numeracy skills based on the core factor model constructed by Aunio and Räsänen (2016), and then highlighting predictors and risk factors in children's early numeracy skill development. Second, the introduction focuses on identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties by operationalising mathematical learning difficulties and giving an overview of criteria for evidence-based assessment for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. Third, in the introduction section, supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties is discussed from the view of computer-assisted interventions and a specific evidence-based program designed to improve young children's early numeracy skills, the Number Race game.

1.1 Early Numeracy Skills

Children develop their numeracy skills from the first years of life and when entering formal education they already have a wide range of knowledge and skills. Early numeracy skills have been found to be important for later mathematical learning (Aunio & Niemivirta, 2010; Geary et al., 2018; Jordan et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2020). A number of frameworks have been constructed to highlight early numeracy skills that form the foundation for later mathematical learning and to describe the development of these early numeracy skills. The developmental models of early numeracy skills have set the base for research on how these skills develop and are interrelated in order to reach an understanding of which early numerical skills are most important to identify and support with the aim to prevent and minimise later mathematical learning difficulties.

1.1.1 Theoretical Frameworks of Early Numeracy Skills Development

Current frameworks of early numeracy skills development in early school years (Aunio & Räsänen, 2016; Fritz et al., 2013; Krajewski & Schneider, 2009; Sarama & Clements, 2009; Steffe, 1992; Wright et al., 2006) have focused on describing the essential skills involved in order to promote instruction in early mathematics. The mathematical development has been described in children aged four to eight, relying more on theoretical underpinnings than empirical data on children's development. All these frameworks (Fritz et al., 2013; Krajewski & Schneider, 2009; Sarama & Clements, 2009; Steffe, 1992; Wright et al., 2006) have emphasised early number knowledge, counting and basic arithmetical skills. The content in these frameworks taps similar early numeracy skills but the frameworks differ in extensity, aim, purpose and target group. An overview of these frameworks is presented in Table 1.

Table 1Overview of Theoretical Frameworks of Early Numeracy Skills Development.

Author/authors	Main aim	Main components	Age/target	Purpose	Focus
Aunio & Räsänen, 2015	A core factor model of early numerical skills	Four subskills describing core numerical skills for young children 1. Symbolic and non-symbolic number sense 2. Understanding mathematical relations 3. Counting skills 4.Basic arithmetical skills	group Children aged 5 to 8 years	A model for educators to help to work with young children who are at risk for learning difficulties	group Average- and low- performing children
Fritz, Ehlert, & Balzer, 2013	A conceptual model of hierarchical mathematics competence development	A six-level model for describing, explaining and predicting children's development of key numerical concepts and arithmetic skills: 1. Count number 2. Mental number line 3. Cardinality and decomposability 4. Class inclusion and embeddedness 5. Relationality 6. Units in numbers	Children aged 4 to 8 years	The model can be used for both diagnostics and training	Average- performing children
Krajewski & Schneider, 2009	Developmental model describing the transition from a procedural to an increasingly conceptual understanding of number words	Early quantity-number competencies acquired via three levels: 1. Basic numerical skills 2. Quantity-number concept and linking number words with quantity 3. Number relationships and linking quantity relations with the number words	Focus on early quantity- number competencies, in early years up to school grade 4	Focus on the competencies that can be predictive of mathematical learning and difficulties in school	Average- performing children
Sarama & Clements, 2009	A model of early mathematics core skills, with focus on learning trajectories	Early mathematics concepts and skills categorised under four categories: 1. Quantity, number and subitising 2. Verbal and object counting 3. Comparing, ordering and estimating 4. Arithmetic: addition and subtraction	Focus on early mathematics for young children	Helping educators to understand and identify the children's developmental level and help children to learn better, both in classes and individually	Average- performing children
Steffe, 1992	A psychological model of the development of children's counting-based strategies	Three composite units categorised in two general categories (units-coordinating schemes and unit segmenting schemes): - Initial number sequence (INS) - Tacitly nested number sequence (TNS) - Explicitly nested number sequence (ENS)	Children in early school years (In the case studies, the three children were aged 8, 3 rd grade)	Constructing models of children's individual construction of schemes of action and operation involving composite units, through individual learning situations	Average- performing children
Wright, Martland, & Stafford, 2006	The Learning Framework in Number (LFIN) in children's early numerical learning	Eleven aspects of early number, organised into four categories: 1. Early arithmetical strategies (6 levels), base-ten arithmetical strategies (3 levels) 2. Forward number word sequences and number word after (6 levels), backward number word sequences and number word before (6 levels), numeral identification (5 levels) 3. Structuring number 1 to 20 - Combining and partitioning - Spatial patterns and subitising - Temporal sequences - Finger patterns - Five-based strategies 4. Early multiplication and division (5 levels)	Children aged 5 to 8 years	Framework used as a basis for classroom teaching and assessment in early numbers, as well as for intervention for low-attaining children. Detailed information of a child's individual stage and levels	Average- and low- performing children

Note. Only the main reference for each model is mentioned in this table

The existing frameworks have focused on average-performing children (Fritz et al., 2013; Krajewski & Schneider, 2009; Sarama & Clements, 2009; Steffe, 1992) or on both average- and low-performing children (Aunio & Räsänen, 2016; Wright et al., 2006). The focus in all the frameworks is early numeracy, more precisely enumeration, number word sequence, number combinations and arithmetical principles. Numerical and arithmetical skills are by definition the base for diagnosing mathematical learning difficulties. Therefore, areas such as geometry, measurement and statistics are excluded in the frameworks, as they are not typically included in tasks used in researching mathematical learning difficulties (DSM-5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013; ICD-10; World Health Organization, 2016), even though these areas are emphasised in mathematical didactics and are therefore key areas in the national curricula and in mathematical assessments. Directly mastering of arithmetical skills (i.e., addition and subtraction) is only included in the framework of Sarama and Clements (2009).

The existing frameworks were originally constructed based on either theoretical or empirical findings or using both approaches. Aunio and Räsänen (2016) constructed their framework of four core numerical skills for learning mathematics based on findings from longitudinal studies and existing test batteries. Fritz and colleagues (2013) constructed a hierarchical framework of competencies grounded on earlier theoretical and empirical findings. The authors verified their framework with empirical data. The theoretical framework of Krajewski and Schneider (2009) focused on describing the transition from a procedural to an increasingly conceptual understanding of number words via three levels, based on theoretical knowledge of how the competencies develop. The framework of Sarama and Clements (2009) is based on theory and research on early childhood learning and teaching, with a focus on children's learning trajectories. Steffe's (1992) framework has a constructivist view on learning and is based on case studies of children's individual mathematical development trajectories. This framework was later tested with a larger sample of children (e.g., Biddlecomb & Carr, 2011). Steffe's framework has been a starting point for the framework that Wright, Martland, and Stafford (2006) constructed. The framework of Wright and colleagues is grounded in research in early number learning and was developed in a project (Count Me In, CMI), and was later used by educators and researchers (e.g., Wright, 1994), mostly for providing individualised educational support for low-performing children. The framework of Wright, Martland, and Stafford (2006) focuses on low-performing children but includes many levels and is therefore very extensive for educators to integrate in their everyday work with children in whole class setting.

Some of the frameworks of early numeracy skills development in early school years have been used for development of mathematical test batteries

(Aunio & Räsänen: Early Numeracy test; Fritz et al.: Marko-D test) and intervention and training programs (Aunio & Räsänen: ThinkMath; Fritz et al.: MARKO-T, an individual training program; Sarama & Clements: The Learning Trajectories Approach and the Building Blocks project; Wright et al.: Mathematics Recovery Program, an intervention program).

It is important for both theoretical and practical reasons to identify the foundational skills that would predict further success in acquiring mathematical skills (Lyons et al., 2014; Purpura & Lonigan, 2013), and to integrate and support these skills by new research findings (Mulligan & Vergnaud, 2006). Even though many of the current theoretical frameworks have been constructed with an educational approach and without being curriculum-based, a substantial number are either too extensive or too detailed to be easily understandable and implemented in educational practise, in order to provide all children with fundamental early numeracy skills and to identify and support those children who struggle in their early numeracy development. The model of Aunio and Räsänen (2016) highlights predictors and risk factors in children's early numeracy skill development and was constructed explicitly to be a working model for educators to use in order to implement evidence-based practice in kindergarten and early school years.

1.1.2 A Model of Four Core Early Numeracy Skills

Aunio and Räsänen's (2016) theoretical model of four core numeracy skills for learning mathematics in children aged five to eight was constructed based on the findings from developmental research on mathematical skills. Based on a literature review with longitudinal studies on early mathematical development, Aunio and Räsänen categorised numerical skills and tested the framework against the contents of internationally used test batteries (Utrecht Test of Early Numeracy: Van Luit et al., 1994; Number Knowledge Test: Griffin, 2003; Early Numeracy Test: Wright et al., 2006; Test of Early Mathematics Ability, TEMA-3: Ginsburg & Baroody, 2003). The criteria for the selected tests were that they were published with norms, they were widely used by educators and researchers in the field, they focused on multiple mathematical skills relevant for this age group, and they were curriculum independent. One key point for the framework of core numerical skills by Aunio and Räsänen (2016) was that the model should emphasise early numeracy skills based on research of mathematical development instead of the content in curriculums.

Based on their analysis, Aunio and Räsänen (2016) categorised early numeracy skills into four main groups of factors that are fundamental to the development of mathematical skills: (1) symbolic and non-symbolic number sense, (2) understanding mathematical relations, (3) counting skills, and (4) basic skills in arithmetic. The first group, symbolic and non-

symbolic number sense, consists of the earliest and most profound number competencies and is operationalised by subitising, representation of magnitudes, magnitude comparison and pattern recognition. It is assumed that children are born with the capacity to discriminate quantities (Dehaene, 1997; Wynn, 1998) and already at early ages make approximate evaluations of magnitudes or symbols representing magnitudes (Jordan & Levine, 2009). The concept of number sense has various definitions, ranging from broader to narrower. In the narrower definition number sense is restricted to those numerical abilities that have been identified both for animals and humans from infants to adults (e.g., Dehaene, 1997/2011). The broader definition of number sense can also include operating with and understanding number symbols. Aunio and Räsänen used a narrower definition of the concept number sense, but in order to clarify the distinction between the symbolic and the non-symbolic skills, they extended the concept to symbolic and non-symbolic number sense. A differentiation between symbolic and non-symbolic number sense is supported in recent research findings, as symbolic magnitude processing is suggested to be a stronger predictor for later mathematical learning than non-symbolic magnitude processing (De Smedt et al., 2013; Schneider et al., 2016; Xenidou-Dervou et al., 2013; Vanbinst et al., 2015; Vogel et al., 2017). Non-symbolic number sense refers to the earliest preverbal numeracy skills, the ability to process and discriminate numerical magnitudes, whereas symbolic number sense refers to symbolic numerical magnitude processing and operating with number symbols and number words (Lyons et al., 2018; Vanbinst et al., 2016). Learning to connect quantities to numerals and a good understanding of numerical meaning helps children to develop more advanced counting strategies, which in turn might lead to a faster reliance on arithmetic combinations (facts) (Chu et al., 2018; Vanbinst et al., 2016) and more sophisticated word problem-solving skills (Thevenot & Barrouillet, 2015).

This second group, understanding mathematical relations, refers to understanding the quantitative and non-quantitative relationships between the elements in a task. This group includes understanding of early mathematical-logical principles, basic arithmetic principles, mathematical operational symbols, and place-value and base-10 systems. Mathematical-logical principles are operationalised by comparison, classification, seriation and one-to-one correspondence, as well as cardinality and ordinality of numbers. An understanding of these concepts and principles has been pointed out in early research on children's mathematical development to form a base in understanding and doing early mathematics (Dowker, 2005; Gelman & Gallistel, 1978; Inhelder & Piaget, 1958) and to serve as a good predictor for their later use of counting strategies (Geary et al., 2018) and mathematical learning (i.e., cardinality; Geary et al., 2018).

Basic arithmetic principles are operationalised by additive composition, commutativity, associativity, and inversion. These skills are needed in different calculation tasks, mainly in understanding the part-whole relations (what entities to count), together with understanding mathematical operational symbols and place-value and base-10 systems. The understanding of these concepts and principles helps the child to judge the correctness of arithmetical tasks (Geary et al., 2007). However, children can use these basic arithmetical principles to determine simple arithmetical tasks before they invent computational strategies, for example, by using commutativity when mentally adding two parts in different orders and getting the same sum (Baroody et al., 2003), or even though they have difficulties in basic arithmetic tasks (Geary et al., 2007). The relation between children's conceptual understanding about numbers and their goal-based numerical activities is a dynamic process where procedures and principles develop side-by-side and support each other (Rittle-Johnson & Siegler, 1998).

The third group, counting skills, includes knowledge of number symbols, number word sequences, and enumeration with concrete objects. Knowledge of number words and symbols includes learning the numbers and number words, and the naming and recognition of numbers. Making the connection between quantities and numerals is a skill that appears to be important for developing increasingly sophisticated strategies for basic arithmetic combinations (facts) (Vanbist et al., 2012). Number word sequence skills involve knowing the correct order of number words and being able to recite the number words forward and backward in chronological order by counting each number or skipping numbers, as well as starting from any given number. When the string of number words is used to enumerate a collection of items, a numerical operation is performed (Sophian, 1998). Enumeration is the ability to count the numerosity of a concrete set and is an essential skill for developing further arithmetical skills. With increasing age and experience with numbers, children start to use more effective and varied counting strategies (Chu et al., 2018). At first, children count objects one by one, and later develop and rely on more effective strategies, such as counting on or up from addends (Baroody, 1999). Counting is a powerful way of learning about numerical relations (Sophian, 1998), as the counting skills (rote sequence) and counting principles (the stable order principle, the one-to-one principle, and the cardinality principle; Gelman & Gallistel, 1978) support each other. Counting skills (knowledge of number symbols, number word sequences, and enumeration with concrete objects) have been emphasised also in other frameworks of early numeracy skills development (Fritz et al., 2013; Krajewski & Schneider, 2009; Sarama & Clements, 2009; Steffe. 1992: Wright et al., 2006).

The fourth group, basic skills in arithmetic, focuses on mastering addition and subtraction tasks with number symbols, and later also multiplication and division tasks. Young children start to solve arithmetic tasks by counting concrete elements (e.g., fingers and manipulatives) and verbal strategies (i.e., reciting number words) and increasingly by using more effective memory-based strategies (e.g., decomposition and factretrieval) (Clements & Sarama, 2014; Chu et al., 2018). With development and schooling, children shift from using counting-based strategies to memory-based strategies, and their solving of arithmetical tasks gets more fluent (Geary et al., 2007). Especially solving single-digit arithmetic tasks requires various strategies and memory-based processes (Clements & Sarama, 2014; Siegler, 1996). Sophisticated arithmetical skills are characterised by an ability to flexibly use different strategies, depending on the problem (Clements & Sarama, 2014). Currently only Sarama and Clements (2009) and Wright and colleagues (2006) directly mention arithmetical skills in their frameworks. The other frameworks (Fritz et al., 2013; Krajewski & Schneider, 2009; Steffe, 1992) focus more on counting skills (number word sequence and object counting) and arithmetical principles (e.g., ordinality, cardinality, and decomposition) than on directly mastering arithmetical tasks using addition and subtraction.

Based on longitudinal studies and items in existing test batteries Aunio and Räsänen (2016) tackled the complexity of early numeracy and constructed a model of four core early numeracy skills that are considered important in developing a good foundation for later mathematical learning. The strength of the core factor model is that it offers educators a clear evidence-based framework to be used in structuring their educational practice in identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties, in contrast to the more extensive frameworks that existed. This kind of evidence-based model was also highly needed in the Finnish national context where prevention and early support in learning was emphasised in the three-level support model, but evidence-based practice and support programs were not available (Björn et al., 2016).

1.1.3 Early Numeracy Skills Development

In order to identify and support children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties, evidence of the early numeracy skills that form the foundation of later learning in mathematics and how these skills are interrelated and how they develop is needed (Desoete et al., 2009; Penner et al., 2019). The early numeracy skills have been described in the existing frameworks of early numeracy skills development, but it is still not clear how these early numeracy skills are related over time or how individual learning trajectories develop. Longitudinal studies (e.g., Aunio & Niemivirta, 2010; LeFevre et al., 2006; Locuniak & Jordan, 2008; Vanbinst et al., 2019) have

contributed with findings of the predictors and developmental trajectories, but many of these studies have either focused on the relations between specific early numeracy skills and later overall mathematics performance or on the longitudinal relations within a specific early numeracy subskill (e.g., counting or symbolic magnitude comparison). However, longitudinal research on the relations between early numeracy subskills is still lacking. Cross-sectional studies (e.g., Gray & Reeve, 2016; Purpura & Lonigan, 2013; Jordan et al., 2010; Li et al., 2018) have mainly focused on how the skills are related concurrently and examining differences between different performance groups. Both variable-centred (relations among early numeracy skills) and person-centred approaches (differences among individuals) have been used in these longitudinal and cross-sectional studies.

Findings from cross-sectional studies have supported the relations between the core early numeracy skills and mathematical learning: symbolic and non-symbolic number sense, such as approximate counting and non-symbolic number comparison (Cai et al., 2018; Libertus et al., 2016) and symbolic number comparison and magnitude processing (Li et al., 2018); mathematical relational skills, such as numbering, relations and arithmetic operations (Purpura & Lonigan, 2013); counting skills, such as reciting number word sequences (Desoete et al., 2009); and basic skills in arithmetic, such as addition and subtraction, counting strategies and fluency (Jordan et al., 2010). Cross-sectional person-centred studies have particularly highlighted symbolic number sense as an indicator for children at risk in their mathematical learning (Gray & Reeve, 2016).

The predictive value of the core early numeracy skills on later mathematical learning has been supported by findings from longitudinal variable-centred studies. First, symbolic and non-symbolic number sense, such as approximate counting and non-symbolic number comparison (Hannula-Sormunen et al., 2015; Libertus et al., 2013) and symbolic number comparison and magnitude processing (Vanbist et al., 2018), is seen as a predictor for later mathematical learning. Second, the predictive value of mathematical relational skills, such as comparison and seriation (Desoete et al., 2009) and counting principles (Stock et al., 2007), including cardinality (Geary et al., 2018), have been supported. Third, counting skills, such as reciting number word sequences (Desoete et al., 2009; Krajewski & Schneider, 2009) and enumeration (Geary et al., 2018), are found to be a predictor for later mathematical learning. Fourth, the predictive value of basic skills in arithmetic, such as addition and subtraction, counting strategies and fluency (Aunio & Niemivirta, 2010; LeFevre et al., 2006; Locuniak & Jordan, 2008) have been supported. Furthermore, longitudinal person-centred studies have highlighted the predictive value of symbolic and non-symbolic number sense (Chew et al., 2019; Reeve et al., 2012; Salminen et al., 2018) on later mathematical learning, especially the importance of symbolic number sense (Vanbist et al., 2015). However, most of the existing longitudinal person-centred studies have only investigated the predictive value over a relatively short time period (e.g., one year; transition period from kindergarten to first grade).

1.2 Identifying Children at risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties

Children start formal education with differing skills. Already in kindergarten there are differences in children's early numeracy skills and performance. Some children experience difficulties acquiring basic numerical skills, with problems ranging from mild to severe (Geary, 2011). Children with problems in their mathematical learning in kindergarten and the early school years are often regarded as children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. Early identification of children at risk for learning difficulties is the first step in supporting these children (Fuchs et al., 2007; Penner et al., 2019). However, the assessment tool should not only identify the lowest performing children, but also give more information on children's strengths and needs. This puts high demands on the assessment tools that are used in the educational practice for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties.

1.2.1 Children at risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties

Even before formal schooling individual differences in children's early numeracy skills can be identified (Bisanz et al., 2005; Dyson et al., 2011). For some children the learning, mastering and development of early numeracy seem unproblematic, whereas for some children it is more challenging to acquire the basic early numeracy skills. The terminology concerning those children who perform lower than their average or typically performing peers varies in the literature. Mathematical learning difficulties, low performance, or low achievement are used to describe the group of children who perform lower than their peers. The prevalence of the low-performing children varies in the literature between 15 and 35 percent, depending on what assessments and criteria are used (e.g., Butterworth et al., 2011; Geary 2013; Mazzocco & Räsänen, 2013). A common criterion used for mathematical learning difficulties is a performance at or below the twenty-fifth percentile in at least two consecutive validated mathematics assessments (Geary, 2011; Geary, 2013). Additionally, it is notable that assessments at several time points within or across years are required for decisions on at-risk status (Mazzocco & Räsänen, 2013). In kindergarten and early school years,

children performing lower than their peers are often described as children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties.

Of those children performing at the lowest continuum, some show severe and persistent problems in their mathematical learning. Mathematical disability (MD), mathematical learning disability (MLD) and developmental dyscalculia (DD) are used interchangeably to describe this group of children. In diagnostics also the terms 'specific learning disorder with impairment in mathematics' (DSM-5, 315.1; American Psychiatric Association, 2013; previously in DSM-4, 315.1: mathematics disorder) and 'specific disorder of arithmetical skills' (ICD-10, F81.2; World Health Organization, 2016) are used. The prevalence of this group of children is about four to seven percent and refers to a specific learning disorder and severe difficulties in acquiring basic mathematical skills (Butterworth et al., 2011; Geary, 2013; Zhang et al., 2020). The markers for developmental dyscalculia can be found at the neural level with impairments in the brain activity, primarily in frontal lobes, the intraparietal sulci and left angular gyrus, are considered to have origins in biological causes (Butterworth et al., 2011). Children with developmental dyscalculia show problems in understanding counting concepts, rely on counting-based strategies, have deficits in arithmetic fact retrieval, and commit more procedural errors than their peers (Geary & Hoard, 2003; Zhang et al., 2020).

In recent research the core deficit in developmental dyscalculia has been found to lie in the symbolic numerical magnitude processing, more precisely in understanding sets and their numerosities and operating with the number symbols with an understanding of the logical relation between them (Geary, 2013; Vanbinst et al., 2016; Schneider et al., 2016). Two explanations of this deficit have been suggested: the defective number module hypothesis, meaning that the problem's origin is in processing numerosities (e.g., Butterworth, 2005; Reigosa-Crespo et al., 2012) and the access deficit hypothesis, meaning that the problems are in difficulties accessing magnitude information from numerical symbols rather than in processing numerosities (e.g., De Smedt & Gilmore, 2011; Desoete et al., 2012; Rousselle & Noël, 2007; Wilson & Dehaene, 2007). Also, lowperforming children have deficits in processing numbers, but the problems may originate in cognitive and motivational causes, as well as sociocultural and educational factors (Price & Ansari, 2013). Additionally, lowperforming children tend to benefit from standard interventions, contradictory to children with developmental dyscalculia, who are in need of more individualised support (Desoete et al., 2012; Mazzocco & Räsänen, 2013).

Even though there is no consensus concerning the terminology, diagnostic criteria or cut-offs, there is evidence that children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties can be placed in two categories: (1) low-performing children and (2) children with mathematical learning disability

or developmental dyscalculia (e.g., Geary, 2011; Price & Ansari, 2013; Zhang et al., 2020). These groups of children are often contrasted in research against the group of average performing children. However, even if these two categories of mathematical learning difficulties show differing performance patterns and learning trajectories, it is notable that within the groups there are individual differences (Mazzocco & Räsänen, 2013). Furthermore, the distinction between these categories is not yet defined (Zhang et al., 2020). It is possible that the importance of specific early numeracy subskills differs depending on where children are in their learning process (Desoete et al., 2012; Geary, 2013). Consequently, it is still unclear how in early age the differentiation between mathematical learning difficulties and developmental dyscalculia can be identified, what the learning trajectories are for these two groups of children, and how numeracy assessments can differentiate these two groups. Also, the effects of early interventions for children with mathematical learning difficulties, particularly developmental dyscalculia, are still unclear and more research is needed in this area (Butterworth et al., 2011; Dowker & Sigley, 2010; Mazzocco & Räsänen, 2013). Altogether, this points out the importance of educators having insight into the core early numeracy skills as well as risk factors in order to identify and support in the early stages those children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties.

1.2.2 Assessment for Identifying Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties

In order to provide children with sufficient support, it is important to identify children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties at an early stage (Geary, 2011; Penner et al., 2019). Identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties is often based on assessments, a process of gathering information regarding the children's skills, needs, strengths and performance in order to plan and conduct adequate instruction based on the information (Pegg, 2003). Furthermore, valid and reliable assessment tools should not only differentiate children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties but also give more detailed information regarding children's performance and the development needed (Aunio, 2019; Purpura & Lonigan, 2015). Repeated assessments to continuously follow children's mathematical learning are also important (Aunio, 2019), as decisions of at-risk status should be based on assessments at several time points within or across years (Mazzocco & Räsänen, 2013). This raises the need for appropriate assessment tools that are evidence-based and designed for a particular purpose.

Currently, there is a wide range of tools for educators to use for assessment of early numeracy skills in kindergarten and early school years (e.g., Child Math Assessment, CMA; Starkey et al., 2004; MARKO-D test:

Ricken et al., 2013; Number Sense Screener, NSS™: Jordan et al., 2012; Number Sets test: Geary et al., 2009; Research-based Early Mathematics Assessment, REMA: Clements et al., 2008; Test of Early Mathematics Ability, Third Edition, TEMA-3: Ginsburg & Baroody, 2003; The Early Numeracy Test, WENT: Wright et al., 2006; The Number Knowledge Test, NKT: Okamoto & Case, 1996; The Utrecht Test of Early Numeracy, ENT-test: Van Luit et al., 1994). Common to these tests is that they are theoretically underpinned and constructed for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. However, to the best of our knowledge, levels for internal consistency are published only for some of these tests. Of these tests, only the Number sets test (Weiland et al., 2012) is constructed to be conducted in groups; the rest are conducted individually.

The strength of individual assessments is that the administrator can guide and monitor the performance during the assessment, whereas the group-administered assessment is generally less time-consuming (Gregory, 2015). Therefore group-administered assessment can be considered efficient for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in a heterogenic classroom. However, group-administered assessments (i.e., screening) often have the purpose of easily identifying those children who need support but do not provide deeper and more specific information in what particular skills children need support (Gregory, 2015). Furthermore, these assessments mainly aim to identify children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties, not to differentiate the lowest performing children into the two categories (i.e., low-performing children and children with developmental dyscalculia). For diagnostic assessment of developmental dyscalculia, a more detailed diagnostic evaluation is needed. On other hand, it is unclear if behavioural measures are able to differentiate the two groups in the low end of the normal distribution, as so many factors (e.g., cognitive, motivational, sociocultural and educational) affects the performance in the test situation. However, in the educational practice, particularly in early school years, the focus is on identifying the lowest performing children and their strengths and needs. in order to provide these children with sufficient support.

Many assessment tools that are designed to be used in the educational practice either broadly measure mathematical skills and concepts (e.g., CMA; Starkey et al., 2004; WENT: Wright et al., 2006) or focus more deeply on specific mathematical skills (e.g., NKT: Okamoto & Case, 1996; Number sets test: Weiland et al., 2012). Additionally, most of the tests have only a unidimensional construct. Describing and interpreting sub-skills as separate factors gives researchers and educators possibilities to examine early numeracy performance, skills, strengths, and needs more specifically (Purpura & Lonigan, 2013). Curriculum-based measurement (CBM) has been suggested as a reliable and valid measure of children's performance, as it combines the advantages of norm-referenced achievement tests and

curriculum-based assessments developed by teachers, and it strives to minimize the gap between the measurement and instruction (Fuchs, 2016).

In order to determine if a test is evidence-based and fit for its purpose, psychometric properties have been set. A theoretical underpinning provides evidence that the skills in focus are relevant and gives an opportunity to understand the underlying structure of the early numeracy skills (Aunio et al., 2019). The validity and reliability of a test can be examined by different criteria for construct validity (structural, crosscultural, known-group and convergent validity), criterion validity (concurrent and predictive validity) and reliability (item consistency, testretest and inter-rater reliability) (Consensus-based Standards for the selection of health Measurement Instruments (COSMIN) methodology: Terwee et al., 2017; Gregory, 2015; Standards for educational and psychological testing: AERA, APA, NCME, 2014). The predictive validity is especially important when determining how effective the test is at identifying at risk children (Gersten et al., 2011; Penner et al., 2019).

1.3 Supporting Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties

Early support can prevent or decrease later mathematical learning difficulties. In school low-performing children seem to benefit less from ordinary instruction than their average-performing peers (Zhang et al., 2020). Therefore, it is important to provide the children that have been identified as at risk for mathematical learning difficulties with adequate support. Screening all students and providing those children identified as at risk for mathematical learning difficulties with adequate support are the first steps in the recommendations of effective ways to support children (Gersten et al., 2009). Additionally, the recommendations include focus on core numerical skills, explicit and systematic instruction, working with underlying structures and visual representations, enhancing fluency in basic arithmetical facts, monitoring progress and including motivational strategies (Gersten et al., 2009). Explicit instruction along with peerassisted instruction, concrete-representational-abstract, CAI and games have also been pointed out in review studies of effective instructions for improving early numeracy skills for children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties (Mononen et al., 2014).

Children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties are likely to benefit from additional support, but interventions that focus on particular early numeracy subskills and individual differences seem to be the most effective (Dowker & Sigley, 2010). Interventions are systematic educational programs designed to give long-term improvements on specific skills (Clements & Sarama, 2011). An effective intervention includes several

sessions over a specific time period (e.g., six weeks to six months) (Gersten et al., 2008). Promising results have been reported from computer-assisted interventions to improve the early numeracy skills of children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties (e.g., Benavides-Varela et al., 2020; Mononen et al., 2014). Additionally, computer technology and digital tools are a part of our everyday life and classrooms, therefore the questions of how to use these in the best way are important to consider both for researchers and educators (Cheung & Slavin, 2013). Consequently, it is important to carefully and critically choose which software to use in a computer assisted intervention (Gersten et al., 2008). One commonly used piece of software is the Number Race game, an adaptive computer game that is evidence-based and freely available in many languages, including Swedish.

1.3.1 Computer Assisted Intervention for Supporting Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties

Computer technology and digital tools have been suggested to complement average classroom instruction by providing intensive, individualised training for children in need of extra support (Cheung & Slavin, 2013; Praet & Desoete, 2014; Räsänen et al., 2009). One way to utilise computer technology is through computer games, as they generally motivate children and can provide attractive possibilities for training in an entertainment context (Kroesbergen & Van Luit, 2003; Wilson, Dehaene et al., 2006). Adaptive computer programs have an additional advantage, as they maintain the difficulty of an educational task, providing the child with exactly the required difficulty level (Räsänen, 2015; Wilson et al., 2006a). However, even though many computer games, programs and applications are available, only few of them are evidence-based (Young, et al., 2012; Knops, 2019).

Computer-assisted intervention (CAI) uses a computer to present instructional material and monitor learning. The advantages of CAI include one-to-one interaction, high motivation, instantaneous response, the possibility to proceed at the child's own pace and level, individual attention, and multimodal presentation of concepts (Fengfeng, 2008). Findings from recent meta-analysis of CAI and digital-based interventions are contradictory. Some studies have concluded that CAI can be used successfully to improve children's numeracy skills (Benavides-Varela et al., 2020; Chodura et al., 2015; Li & Ma, 2010). Other studies have reported no additional effects compared to other interventions (Seo & Bryant, 2009) or even that it is less effective than teacher instruction (Dennis et al., 2016; Kroesbergen & Van Luit, 2003). When comparing specifically digital games Benavides-Varela and colleagues' (2020) findings did not suggest games to be more effective than other digital programs with drill-practices. However,

the CAIs have been very different concerning target groups (age and performance level), software (digital applications or games) and research design (setting, control groups, sample size, intensity, duration, and measurements). This highlights the importance of careful selection of the software to be used in computer-assisted interventions for children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties (Gersten et al., 2008).

CAI in mathematics in the early grades has mainly focused on enhancing low-performing children's basic numerical skills. To the best of our knowledge, the existing mathematics programs and games that have been used in research-based CAIs in kindergarten and the early grades include Calcularis (Käser et al., 2013), GraphoGame Math (Salminen et al., 2015), Lola's World (Aunio & Mononen, 2018), and The Number Race (Wilson, Revkin et al., 2006; Wilson et al., 2009; Räsänen et al., 2009; Salminen et al., 2015). The Number Race is research based and widely used in both research and educational practice. However, only Räsänen and colleagues (2009) and Salminen and colleagues (2015) conducted their studies in authentic preschool settings.

1.3.2 The Number Race Game

The Number Race (NR) computer game was originally developed by a French research group for remediation of dyscalculia in children ages 5–8 (Wilson, Dehaene et al., 2006). The NR is adaptive and can vary in three ways: the distance between the numerical representations, the speed and response deadline, and the conceptual complexity (Wilson, Dehaene et al., 2006). At the initial level, the game focuses on non-symbolic number skills, such as recognizing numerical quantities and comparing numbers by choosing the larger of two quantities (Wilson, Dehaene et al., 2006). At subsequent levels, symbolic number skills are more prominent, as the game improves the children's fluency in arithmetic and mapping numbers to quantities by adding or subtracting in order to make comparisons. The additions and subtractions are conceptually oriented, concrete operations instead of drills of arithmetical facts (Wilson, Dehaene et al., 2006).

There exist a few studies on the effectiveness of the NR (version 2.0) that have reported promising results from interventions with the NR game to improve mathematical skills in children with mathematical learning disabilities (Wilson, Revkin et al., 2006; Wilson et al., 2009; Räsänen et al., 2009). The first study of the effectiveness of NR was an open trial study with a small group of children (only nine children ages 7-9 years) and without a control group (Wilson, Dehaene et al., 2006). In most of the previous studies, the participating children have been kindergarteners (Räsänen et al., 2009; Salminen et al., 2015; Sella et al., 2016; Wilson et al., 2009), from a specific target group (low socio-economic status: Wilson et al., 2009; with MLD: Salminen et al., 2015; Wilson, Revkin et al., 2006), or the interventions

were conducted in a highly controlled learning environment (Obersteiner et al., 2013). One previous study (Brankaer et al., 2014) did not find any effects of the NR intervention, compared to a passive control group. Also, Räsänen and colleagues (2009) found only small and relatively short-lasting effects from the NR intervention. The results from previously published NR studies have been critically discussed by Szűcs and Myers (2017), indicating that some previous studies have an inadequate design, either in that they lack a control group or that they contrast NR training with non-mathematical training (reading training or drawing activity).

1.4 The Present Study

The importance of early numeracy skills for later mathematical learning has been pointed out in previous research literature. As there are already large individual differences in children's early numeracy performance in kindergarten and early school years (Aunio & Niemivirta, 2010; Jordan et al., 2009) and the gap between children tends to persist or even grow wider across grades (Geary, 2011), it is highly important to identify and support children for mathematical learning difficulties at an early stage. Early support is proposed to prevent or at least reduce later mathematical learning difficulties (Fuchs et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2020). In order to know who are in need of support in their early numeracy development, educators need to first identify the children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties.

The assessment process requires valid and reliable assessment tools that not only differentiate the children but also give information on children's performance, skills, strengths and needs (Aunio, 2019). This requires that the tests measure early numeracy skills broadly with a multidimensional structure. Many of the existing early numeracy tests measure early numeracy broadly, without providing specific information regarding in what subskills children need support, or focus only on a particular early numeracy subskill, leaving out information about other subskills. Neither of these approaches can provide educators with adequate information on children's strengths and needs that are required in the assessment process. Furthermore, the assessment for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties should be a continuous process, including several assessment points, which additionally is an important aspect when developing and validating evidence-based assessment tools to be used in the educational practice. Also, in supporting children, there are demands of targeted and research-based interventions.

When identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties, it is important to focus on the early numeracy skills that form the foundation of later learning in mathematics and to know how

these skills are interrelated and how they develop (Desoete et al., 2009). Both person-centred and variable-centred cross-sectional and longitudinal studies have provided knowledge of the developmental trajectories and interrelations of early numeracy skills, but longitudinal research on the relations between early numeracy subskills is still lacking and the person-centred studies have mainly focused on a specific early numeracy subskill (e.g., non-symbolic magnitude processing) instead of several subskills. Early numeracy skills have been emphasised and operationalised in the existing theoretical frameworks of early numeracy skills development. However, many of these frameworks have been extensive for educators to use in their educational practice and highlight the importance of frameworks that not only operationalise the early numeracy skills, but also can be used as a working model in the educational practice.

1.4.1 Aims and Research Questions

This thesis aims to contribute to the research on early numeracy development by focusing on identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten and early school years with a focus on improving evidence-based educational practice. This thesis highlights core early numeracy skills, based on the core factor model (Aunio & Räsänen, 2016) constructed to be used as a working model for educators in the process of identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. Based on the model early numeracy was operationalised through four early numeracy subskills: symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge, mathematical relational skills, counting skills and basic skills in arithmetic.

Longitudinal data from three age groups (kindergarten, first grade and second grade) were collected in order to answer the research questions. To reach a deeper understanding of the development and interrelation of the core early numeracy skills both a person-centred and a variable-centred approach were used. The reliability and validity evidence of the Early Numeracy test (EN-test; Koponen et al., 2011a, 2011b, and 2011c) was investigated in order to confirm that the test could be used as a research-based assessment tool both for educators and for researchers to identify children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. The EN-test was used in all three substudies to measure children's early numeracy performance in the three age groups. Thereto, an intervention study was conducted to examine the effectiveness of a CAI intervention for supporting children that are identified as at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in first grade. In the CAI, a research-based computer game was used.

The following three research questions were addressed:

- 1. How do the early numeracy core skills develop during one school year in first and second grade? (Study I and II)
- 2. How reliable and valid is the Early Numeracy test for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten, first and second grade? (Study I and II)
- 3. How can children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties be supported in a computer-assisted intervention in first grade? (Study III)

2. Method

2.1 Context

In Finland compulsory formal education consists of nine years of comprehensive school, starting in August the year the child turns seven. To prepare children for formal schooling, they enter a one-year kindergarten education. The compulsory formal education and the one-year kindergarten education follow the national curriculum framework. The national curriculum frameworks for kindergarten education emphasise learning in formal and informal situations. In kindergarten education, the aims for learning are described more on an overall level than in first and second grades. In first and second grades children have specific subjects studied during separate lessons with aims for learning specified in the national curriculum guidelines.

In kindergarten mathematics, the curriculum guidelines from 2010 (Finnish National Board of Education, 2010) focus on giving children a base for their mathematical learning in varying everyday situations. The only specific mathematical content that is mentioned concerns concepts as classification and seriation of objects based on their shape, quantity, and other characteristics. The newer curriculum framework in mathematics from 2014 (Finnish National Board of Education, 2014a) also emphasises problem solving, combining numerals with quantity and number word, and aspects of early geometry.

In first and second grade mathematics, the curriculum framework from 2004 (Finnish National Board of Education, 2004b) focuses on learning, understanding, and performing operations with numbers, number symbols, and number words, mainly in the number range of 0–20. By the end of the first school year, numbers up to 100 are also introduced. The key areas are basic addition and subtraction, algebra, statistics, measurements, and geometry. The newer curriculum framework in mathematics from 2014 (Finnish National Board of Education, 2014b) has the same core content, with some parts described in more detail than in the previous curriculum framework. Additionally, programming and digital tools are emphasised in the newer curriculum.

In both kindergarten and comprehensive school, the educational support is organised based on the three-tiered support model: general support (Tier 1), intensified support (Tier 2), and special support (Tier 3) (Finnish National Board of Education, 2014b). The three-tiered educational support model in the Finnish education system is influenced by the Response to Intervention model (RtI) and has both similarities and dissimilarities with the RtI model. Assessment for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties is important at Tier 1 in the RtI, as the first step to support children is to identify all children at risk (Björn

et al., 2018; Gersten et al., 2009). Early identification and intervention are emphasised in the Finnish three-tiered educational support model as well, but systematic assessment for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties is not included in the general support level as in the RtI model (Björn et al., 2018). This is true for the educational support in the Finnish three-tiered educational support model as well; there are no demands and guidelines for the intensity and content of the interventions (Björn et al., 2018). The Finnish three-tier support model focuses on early identification of learning difficulties, early intervention, educational differentiation, and collaboration between professionals in education and health care. Children are provided with extra support in successive tiers of increasing intensity.

The participants in this study come from Swedish-speaking kindergartens and schools in the Swedish-speaking parts of Finland. The Swedish-speaking population is a minority (5.2%, according to Official Statistics of Finland, 2019) in Finland, and they live mainly on the west coast and in southern parts of Finland. Finland has two official languages, Finnish and Swedish. There are equal opportunities concerning education for both Finnish and Swedish speaking populations. In national and international assessments there have not been any significant differences between Finnish and Swedish speaking children at the beginning of comprehensive school (national student assessment: Ukkola & Metsämuuronen, 2019), nor at the end of the compulsory school (international student assessment, i.e., PISA; Leino et al., 2019).

2.2 Participants and Procedure

In the three original studies included in this thesis, the participants were drawn from the same longitudinal study with a sample of 361 kindergarteners (Study I), 321 first graders (Studies I, II and III) and 457 second graders (Studies I and II). The data were collected during the academic year 2011-2012 from different-sized kindergartens and schools in urban and rural areas of Swedish-speaking Finland. All children attended neighbourhood schools, and no special education classes were included in the study.

In the initial stage of the longitudinal study, teachers and principals were contacted and informed about the purpose and procedure of the longitudinal study. A total of 21 kindergartens and 23 schools were interested in participating, and permission was obtained from the principals and teachers. Thereafter, parents received an information letter with the descriptions of our study purpose, procedure, and contact information. Permission for children to participate in this study was obtained in writing from their parents. Teachers and children participated

voluntarily in the data collection, with the possibility to decline or discontinue participation at any point. No personal information about the children was collected other than children's first name, birth date and name of kindergarten or school. Teachers were able to give additional information (e.g., home language, level of support) in connection with the assessment and intervention. However, this information was provided only for some of the children. The reason for the limited background information was that this was not originally designed as a longitudinal research study; instead the focus in the initial stage was to develop an assessment tool for educational practice and background variables were only collected in order to organise the data. The children's names as well as kindergarten and school names were replaced with number codes in the data coding stage to secure children's anonymity. A separate permission for the intervention study was collected from the participating children's parents before the intervention period started.

The children's early numeracy skills were assessed three times in first and second grade during one academic school year. The first assessment took place at the beginning of the school year (September), the second in the middle of the school year (January-February) and the third at the end of the school year (May). In kindergarten children's early numeracy skills were only assessed at the beginning of the kindergarten year (September). The intervention in first grade took place in April and May, right before the third assessment.

2.3 Constructing the Early Numeracy test

The validation of the Swedish language version of the Early Numeracy test (EN-test) was a part of this thesis. The EN-test was constructed within the LukiMat project, a project funded by the Finnish Ministry of Education and Culture and a collaborative project with researchers at Åbo Akademi University, University of Jyväskylä and Niilo Mäki Institute. The overall aim of the LukiMat project was to provide educators, other school personnel and parents a public web-based information service (lukimat.fi) with research-based information on children's reading and mathematical learning and difficulties in mastering those skills in early school years. One part of the project was to develop an assessment tool that teachers could use for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties – the EN-test. A multi-professional and multilingual team constructed the ENtest both in Finnish and in Swedish during the academic year 2010-2011 and piloted the test this same year. My role in the LukiMat-project was to construct the Swedish information service concerning mathematical learning and the Swedish language version of the EN-test together with the two other Swedish speaking team members (Johan Korhonen and Karin

Linnanmäki). The Swedish language version of the EN-test was constructed based on and partly parallel with the Finnish version. I was responsible for the planning and implementation of the data collection with the Swedish EN-test. The validation of the Swedish EN-test was conducted outside the LukiMat-project. The main data for this thesis were collected during the academic year 2011-2012.

The aim with the EN-test is to identify children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten and first and second grades (Koponen et al., 2011a, 2011b, 2011c). The test is based on the theoretical model of core numerical skills for learning mathematics in children aged 5 to 8 years and focuses on four skill groups: symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge, understanding mathematical relations, counting skills, and basic skills in arithmetic (Aunio & Räsänen, 2016). In the original model the third subskill was named symbolic and non-symbolic number sense, whereas in the EN-test it was named symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge.

The EN-test is designed to be an easily administered paper-pen based group-test that teachers can use as a part of their regular schoolwork. The teachers follow a manual with detailed written instructions and give verbal instructions based on the instructions. The children answer the task on their individual papers. In kindergarten and in the beginning of first grade. eight items measuring verbal counting skills are administered individually. Within each age level, three versions are available: one extended version at the beginning (T1), one follow-up in the middle (T2) and one follow-up at the end (T3) of the school year. In the extended version at the beginning of the school year all four early numeracy subskills are included, but in the follow-up versions some subskills are measured more narrowly than others and some subskills are left outside. This construct of the EN-test was based on the idea that the test should be easily administered and not too timeconsuming or extensive to be used in classroom practice. The total number of items, the number of items measuring each subskill, and the number range within tasks differ between the age groups. Example tasks are presented in the Appendix (Table A1). The test battery and test handbooks are freely available in Swedish and Finnish from the LukiMat web service.

Kindergarten. In kindergarten, symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge are measured at the beginning and in the middle of the school year and understanding mathematical relations at the beginning and the end of the school year. Only counting skills are measured at all three time points. Symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge is assessed with tasks where children are asked to choose the largest or smallest number out of three alternatives (T1 and T2). In understanding mathematical relations tasks, children are asked to compare the number of objects and to choose the picture with more, most, fewer or same number of objects (T1), to put a cross on a specific object in a seriation based on the ordinal number

(T1 and T3) and to place an object on the right place in a seriation based on the size of the object (T1). In the counting skills tasks, children are asked to combine number words and number symbols, number words and magnitudes, and number symbols and magnitudes (T1). Counting skills are also assessed with individually administered tasks where children are asked to count as far as they can, starting from 1 or a given number and counting backwards (T1, T2 and T3). For basic skills in arithmetic, children are assessed with non-symbolic story problems where they are asked to determine how many objects (e.g., coins or apples) they have when objects are added or taken away. The internal consistency for the EN-test in kindergarten is presented in Table 2. However, in this thesis only the EN-version for the beginning of the kindergarten year was used for measuring children's early numeracy skills at the beginning of the kindergarten year (Study II).

First grade. In first grade, symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge, understanding mathematical relations and basic skills in arithmetic are measured at all three time points. Counting skills are measured only at the beginning of the school year, including eight tasks measuring verbal counting skills that are administered individually. In the symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge tasks, children are asked to compare the number of coins in two baskets with two boxes with coins in each basket and to determine in which basket they have more coins (T1), to determine in which number set the numbers are arranged from smallest to biggest number (T1), to compare two numbers and determine how much bigger or smaller one number is than the other (T2) and to compare two numbers and choose the biggest or smallest number (T3). In understanding mathematical relations tasks, children are asked to compare the number of objects and to choose the picture with more and fewer objects (T1), to choose the picture with the correct number of objects based on one-to-one correspondence (T1), and to determine the next number in an increasing and decreasing number sequence (T1, T2 and T3). In counting skills tasks, children are asked to count numerosities of sets when they know the total number of objects, but some objects are hidden, or determine how many is one or two more or one or two less (T1). Counting skills are also assessed with individually administered tasks where children are asked to count as far as they can, starting from 1 or a given number and counting backwards (T1). For basic skills in arithmetic, children are assessed with non-symbolic story problems where they are asked to determine how many objects (e.g., coins or apples) they have when objects are added or taken away (T1) and symbolic addition and subtraction calculation tasks (T2 and T3). The internal consistency for the EN-test in first grade is presented in Table 2.

Second grade. In second grade, basic skills in arithmetic and symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge are measured at all three time points, while understanding mathematical relations and counting skills are only

measured at the beginning of the school year. In the symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge tasks, children are asked to compare four numbers and choose the biggest or smallest number (T1, T2 and T3) and to determine in which number set the numbers are arranged from smallest to biggest (T1). In understanding mathematical relations tasks, children are asked to determine the next number in an increasing and decreasing number sequence (T1). Counting skills are assessed with tasks where children are asked to write with number symbols the number the teacher is saying (T1). For basic skills in arithmetic, children are assessed with speedy symbolic addition and subtraction calculation tasks (T1, T2 and T3). The internal consistency for the EN-test in second grade is presented in Table 2.

Table 2Number of Items and Reliability Coefficients in the Early Numeracy Test.

	Kindergarten			First grade			Second grade		
	T1	T2	Т3	T1	T2	Т3	T1	T2	T3
Symbolic and non- symbolic number knowledge (NK)	8 (.86)	6 (.85)	-	8 (.70)	6 (.82)	6 (.80)	8 (.75)	4 (.66)	9 (.68)
Understanding mathematical relations (MR)	16 (.76)	-	4 (.53)	16 (.71)	6 (.81)	6 (.89)	8 (.93)	-	-
Counting skills (CS)	16 (.82)	19 (.81)	15 (.81)	16 (.83)	-	-	8 (.81)	-	-
Basic skills in arithmetic (BA)	8 (.63)	-	8 (.72)	16 (.78)	24 (.90)	20 (.94)	40 (.94)	56 (.95)	56 (.94)
Total	48 (.90)	25 (.84)	27 (.87)	56 (.90)	36 (.88)	32 (.95)	64 (.95)	60 (.95)	65 (.94)

Note. α = Cronbach's alpha.

2.4 The Intervention Program with the Number Race Game

In this thesis the updated Swedish version of the Number Race (NR) computer game (*Tal i farten*, version 3.0) was used as an intervention method to investigate the effects for the low-performing children in first grade (Study III). The aim with NR is to remediate dyscalculia by practicing various number presentations and the transformations between symbolic and non-symbolic number representations, with a special focus on the representation of quantities and approximate numerical comparison (Wilson, Dehaene et al., 2006). NR is primarily aimed at children aged five to eight years. The game is adaptive, and the difficulty of the tasks is modulated by varying the numerical distance between sets, the time limit for responding, and the format of the displayed quantities (from simple

non-symbolic comparison to more complex symbolic calculation). The difficulty is constantly adjusted by an adaptive algorithm so that the child's performance stays at a 75% accuracy level.

The NR starts with a view where the child chooses between two visual contexts: jungle or underwater world. In both contexts the game idea is the same; only the visual layout differs. The child is competing against the software in numerical comparison tasks where the task is to compare quantities (i.e., dots), numbers (4 vs. 2) or number combinations (addition and subtraction calculations, e.g., 3 + 5 vs. 2 + 1). To win, the child has to choose the larger quantity, larger number or larger sum or difference. Immediate response is given by applause and after the comparison both the child's and the opponent's (i.e., the software) player characters move on the number line as many steps as points are given. After this, a new numerical comparison task is given. The numerical representations (dots, numbers, or number combinations) are adapted based on the child's individual level.

In the new version of the NR (version 3.0), basic arithmetic is denoted more visibly on the number line, and the number line is now continuous instead of divided into segments, as in the earlier version (version 2.0). Moving on the number line, the focus is on counting on instead of starting from the beginning. The total view is made clearer, and everything is on the same page: the number line, the two number boxes to choose from, and the comparison of magnitudes. The updated version is in better agreement with recent studies on the format of the number line (Siegler & Ramani, 2009) and focuses more on strengthening the connection between counting and basic addition than does the previous version of NR. The NR software is open source (GNU Public License) and can be freely downloaded from http://www.thenumberrace.com.

2.5 Data Analysis

In all three substudies a quantitative approach was used to analyse the data in order to answer the research questions. In the analysis we utilised the MPLUS programme (version 8; Muthén & Muthén, 1998–2015) to conduct the confirmatory factor analyses, latent profile analyses and multivariate regression analyses. Analysis of variance, multivariate analysis of variance, chi-square tests, and reliability analyses were conducted using SPSS statistical software.

2.5.1 Analysis of Variance and Multivariate Analyses of Variance

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) and multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) are used to examine the statistical differences among means. In ANOVA only one dependent variable is allowed, whereas MANOVA is an

extension of ANOVA and allows comparing group means on several variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). In Study I, ANOVAs and MANOVAs with post hoc comparisons (Bonferroni correction and Games-Howell post hoc-test) were used to examine the differences in early numeracy performance between the three early numeracy profiles both in first grade and in second grade. With one-way ANOVA we investigated the group differences in overall early numeracy performance and age at three time points. To look more closely at group differences in the early numeracy subskills at the three time points we conducted MANOVAs for each time point. Unstandardised sum scores from the EN-test at three time points in two grades were used. In Study III, ANOVAs and MANOVAs with post hoc comparisons (Bonferroni correction and Tamhane's post hoc test) were used to examine the differences in early numeracy performance between the NR-intervention group, the low-comparison group and the averageperforming group at the three time points in first grade. ANOVAs were used to examine the group differences in the overall early numeracy performance and age at the three time points. MANOVAs were used to examine more specifically the group differences in the early numeracy subskills. In Study III, mixed factorial ANOVA were used to examine the effectiveness of the NR-intervention. Partial eta square $(\eta_{\mathfrak{p}}^2)$ was used as a measure of the effect size.

2.5.2 Confirmatory Factor Analysis and Multigroup Confirmatory Factor Analysis

Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) is a type of structural equation modeling (SEM) that is used to investigate the causal relations among latent and observed variables (e.g., test items and test scores) in a theory-derived prespecified model (Byrne, 2012; Schumacker & Lomax, 2004). In a CFA the researcher has to prespecify the model, the number of factors and item loadings, in contrast to exploratory factor analysis, where the researcher seeks to discover the underlying construct of the items and factors. The strength of CFA is the strong base in a theoretical model and it is therefore commonly used to examine the latent structure of a test (Brown, 2006) and for examining the structural validity of a test (Terwee, et al., 2018). In Study II. CFAs were used to examine whether the factor structure of the EN-test supports the factor structure in the early numeracy core factor model of Aunio and Räsänen (2016) in order to seek evidence for the structural validity of the EN-test. Structural validity refers to whether the items represent the theoretical constructs that they are designed for (Gregory, 2015). Separate CFAs were conducted for kindergarten, first grade and second grade. The model fit of three different models, a four-factor model, a three-factor model, and one-factor model were compared. Due to categorical data, Weighted Least Squares Means and Variance Estimation (WLSMV) were used (Brown, 2006). The goodness of the model fit is evaluated using the chi-square test, the Comparative Fit Index (CFI), the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), and the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA). A non-significant result on the chi-square test and values greater than 0.95 for CFI and TLI, and less than 0.05 for RMSEA indicate an excellent model fit (Marsh, Hau, & Wen, 2004). When comparing nested models, an improvement of more than .01 in CFI and .015 in RMSEA indicates that the more complex model (i.e., the model with more factors) fits the data better than the more parsimonious model (Chen, 2007).

In Multigroup CFA several groups can be tested simultaneously, testing if the same underlying structure is supported across different groups of individuals (Brown, 2006). In Study II, multigroup CFAs were used to examine the known-group validity and the cross-cultural validity. Known-group validity was tested by investigating measurement invariance across gender (girls vs. boys) and age (median split: younger vs. older), whereas cross-cultural validity was tested by investigating measurement invariance across language groups (Finnish vs. Swedish speaking children).

2.5.3 Cronbach's Alpha

Cronbach's alpha is a common measure for calculating the internal consistency reliability of a test (Gregory, 2015; Terwee et al., 2017). Internal consistency tells how items are related to each other and how well they measure the same construct. In Study II, Cronbach's alpha was used to measure the reliability of the EN-test in kindergarten, grade 1 and grade 2. Additionally, in Study I and Study III, Cronbach's alpha was used to calculate the internal consistency of the EN-test for the specific samples. The recommended acceptable value of Cronbach's alpha coefficient is 0.70 (Peterson, 1994; Nunnally, 1978).

2.5.4 Independent Samples Chi-square Tests

Independent sample chi-square tests (χ^2 tests) are used to examine whether there is an association between two categorical variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). In Study I, chi-square tests were used to examine the association between the early numeracy profiles and gender, as well as the association between the early numeracy profiles and language in first grade and in second grade. In Study III, chi-square tests were used to examine the association between the intervention group or the two comparison groups and gender, as well as the association between the groups and language. These associations were examined in order to determine if either gender (boys or girls) or language (Swedish or other home language) category was overrepresented in one of the early numeracy profiles (Study I) or intervention or comparison groups (Study III).

2.5.5 Latent Profile Analysis

Latent Profile Analysis (LPA) is a person-centred method for identifying homogenous subgroups within the sample based on certain sets of variables. LPA aims to identify the smallest number of latent classes that best describes the association between the variables. In Study I, LPAs were used to identify clusters of individuals with similar patterns of early numeracy performance. In the analyses one class at time is added stepwise until the model fits the data. The best model was chosen based on the statistical criteria, Bayesian information criterion (BIC), Vuong-Lo-Mendell-Rubin (VLMR) likelihood ratio test and entropy value. A decrease in BIC when an additional class is added indicates a better model fit. A resulting p-value of less than 0.05 for VLMR suggests that the estimated model is preferable over the reduced model (Lo et al. 2001). Entropy with values approaching 1 indicates clear delineation of classes (Celeux & Soromenho, 1996). Furthermore, the class size, usefulness and interpretability of the latent classes in the models were also considered as criteria for the best fitting model.

2.5.6 Multivariate Regression Analysis

Multivariate regression analysis is a type of regression analysis. Regression analysis aims to examine whether there is a statistical relation between the independent and the dependent variable and whether the independent variable can predict the dependent variable. Multivariate regression analysis allows examination of the relations between multiple independent variables and dependent variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). In Study I, a series of multivariate regression analysis models was fitted to the data to explore the relations between the early numeracy factors (NK, MR, CS, and BA) in both first grade and second grade over three time points. Maximum Likelihood with robust standard error estimation was used in the analysis, as it is more robust to non-normality and non-independence of the observations. The goodness of the model fit was evaluated using the chisquare test (χ 2), the Comparative Fit Index (CFI), the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), the Standardised Root Mean Square Residual (SRMR) and the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA). For CFI, values of .90 and above were considered to represent a good model fit, while values over .95 represented an excellent fit. TLI > .90 indicates an acceptable fit (Bentler & Bonett, 1980). For SRMR, a value less than .08 is generally considered a good fit (Hu & Bentler, 1999). For RMSEA, values below .08 are considered to represent acceptable fit and values below .05 an excellent fit (Marsh et al., 2004).

3. Overview of the Original Studies

In this chapter an overview of the three original articles is presented. A summary of the aims, research questions, participants, measures, analyses, and results in the original studies are presented in Table 3.

Table 3Summary of Aims, Research Questions, Participants, Measures, Statistical Methods, and Results of the Original Studies.

Study and title	Keywords	Aim	Research questions	Participants	Measures	Main statistical methods	Main results
Study I: Development of early numeracy skills during first and second grade	At risk for mathematical learning difficulties, early numeracy, numerical development, person- centred analysis, variable- centred analysis	A variable- centred and a person-centred approach to investigate the development of early numeracy skills within one year in first and second grade	1. How are early numeracy skills interrelated over time? 2. What kind of early numeracy profiles can be found among children in the beginning of the school year? 3. How are these early numeracy profiles related to early numeracy skills in the middle and in the end of the school year?	321 first graders and 457 second graders	EN-test	Multivariate regression analysis, Latent profile analysis, one-way ANOVA, MANOVA, Independent sample χ^2 -tests	CS in the beginning of first grade was an important predictor of later early numeracy skills while BA emerged as a key predictor of later early numeracy skills in both grades. Three substantially different early numeracy profiles were identified: well-performing, average-performing and at risk for mathematical learning difficulties.
Study II: Reliability and validity evidence of early numeracy test for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties	Assessment, early numeracy, mathematical learning difficulties, screener, validation	Investigate the reliability (internal consistency) and validity (structural validity, known group validity, and cross-cultural validity) evidence of the EN-test	1. Validity: structural validity, known group validity, and cross- cultural validity 2. Reliability: internal consistency	361 kinder- garteners, 321 first graders, and 457 second graders	EN-test	Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA), multigroup CFA, reliability analysis (Cronbach's alpha coefficient)	The EN-test was found to have adequate structural validity, knowngroup validity, cross-cultural validity, and internal consistency. The empirical data support the aim of measuring four early numeracy skills described in the core factor model (Aunio & Räsänen, 2015).
Study III: The Number Race – computer- assisted intervention for mathematically low-performing first graders	Computer- assisted interventions (CAI), low performance, mathematical learning, mathematical learning difficulties, mathematics game	Investigate the effectiveness of the Number Race (NR), computer game in enhancing low-performing first grade children's mathematical performance	1. How does the NR intervention group develop in its overall mathematical performance, compared to the low- and average-performing comparison groups? 2. How does the intervention group develop in the different mathematical subskills (NK, MR, CS, and BA), compared to the low- and average-performing comparison groups?	334 first graders: NR- intervention group <i>n</i> = 29, low- comparison group <i>n</i> = 27, average- comparison group <i>n</i> = 278	EN-test	ANOVA (one way; factorial), MANOVA	No statistically significant intervention effect on children's mathematical performance. At none of the time points did the NR-intervention group differ significantly from the low-comparison group, which only received ordinary classroom instruction in mathematics during the four-week intervention period. The average-performing children outperformed the low-performing children at all time points.

Note. NK = symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge; MR = understanding mathematical relations; CS = counting skills; BA = basic skills in arithmetic. EN-test = Early Numeracy test.

3.1 Study I

3.1.1 Aims

The aim of this study was to examine the development of children's early numeracy skills during one school year in first grade and in second grade. The study used both a variable- and person-centred approach to more closely investigate the interrelation between four early numeracy subskills (symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge, understanding mathematical relations, counting skills and basic skills in arithmetic) and what kind of early numeracy profiles can be found among children in the beginning of the school year and how the early numeracy skills develop within these profiles over a school year.

3.1.2 Participants, procedure, and measures

The participants in this study were 321 first graders (162 girls) and 457 second graders (240 girls) from 23 schools in Swedish-speaking areas of Finland. The children ranged in age in first grade from 80 months to 111 months ($M_{\rm age}$ = 86.87; SD = 3.94) and in second grade from 91 months to 115 months ($M_{\rm age}$ = 98.38; SD = 3.65). Permission for children to participate in this study was obtained in writing from their parents. Children's early numeracy skills were assessed with the Early Numeracy test at three time points within the school year: in the beginning, in the middle and in the end. The assessment was administered by the classroom or special education teacher and was completed in an ordinary classroom setting during one or two lessons.

3.1.3 Analysis

The variable-centred approach started with exploring the relations between the early numeracy factors (NK, MR, CS and BA) over time in both first and second grades. A series of multivariate regression analysis models were fitted to the data. First, a baseline model consisting of autoregressive paths by the theoretical framework of the four early numeracy factors were set. Second, we tested a model consisting of both autoregressive paths and cross-lagged paths between the early numeracy factors and compared it to the baseline model. Third, we tested a model consisting of only the significant paths from the second model and compared it to the baseline model. Maximum Likelihood with robust standard error estimation was used in the analysis. The goodness of the model fit was evaluated using the chi-square test (χ 2), the Comparative Fit Index (CFI), the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), the Standardised Root Mean Square Residual (SRMR) and the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA).

In the person-centred approach early numeracy profiles were identified through latent profile analyses (LPA; Muthén & Muthén, 1998–2015). Standardised factor scores for each early numeracy factor (NK, MR, CS and BA) at the first time point (T1) were created based on confirmatory factor analysis and used in the LPAs. The differences in early numeracy performance between the early numeracy profiles at the three time points were examined through analysis of variance (ANOVA) and multivariate analyses of variances (MANOVA). The partial eta squared (η_p^2) was used to measure the effect size. Chi-square tests and ANOVA were performed to examine the background variables: age, gender, and native language.

3.1.4 Results

A series of multivariate regression analysis was conducted: (1) a model consisting of autoregressive paths, where each early numeracy factor (NK, MR, CS and BA) was predicted by the same early numeracy factor at the previous time point (e.g., NK3 on NK2 and NK2 on NK1), (2) a model with cross-lagged paths, where each early numeracy factor was predicted by all other early numeracy subskills at the previous time point (e.g., NK3 on BA2 and MR2), (3) model that consisted of only the significant paths from the second model. The third model was chosen as the model fit indices supported the model fit altogether. In first grade, counting skills in the beginning of the school year was an important predictor of later early numeracy skills while basic arithmetic skills emerged as a key predictor of later early numeracy skills in both grades.

Latent profile analysis identified three early numeracy profiles that differed from the early numeracy skills in the beginning of the school year: well-performing (first grade: 33.3%; second grade: 39.6%), average-performing (first grade: 43.6%; second grade: 45.5%) and at risk for mathematical learning difficulties (first grade: 23.1%; second grade: 14.9%). In both grades, all three profiles substantially differed from each other at all three time points, except in the end of the school year in the first grade, wherein the differences between the well-performing children and the average-performing children were non-significant. Age, gender, and language were not related to group-belonging in the first grade. In the second grade, older children and boys were overrepresented in the well-performing profile, while girls were overrepresented in the average-performing profile.

3.1.5 Discussion

This study aimed to examine the development of children's early numeracy skills during one school year in first grade and in second grade with both a variable- and person-centred approach. Children's counting skills in the

beginning of first grade was an important predictor of later early numeracy skills while basic arithmetic skills emerged as a key predictor of later early numeracy skills in both grades.

In first grade, the significant correlations within time points between the early numeracy measures are in line with previous cross-sectional studies (Purpura & Lonigan, 2013; Jordan et al., 2010; Li et al., 2018). Concerning the longitudinal relations, our study shows that children's counting skills in the beginning of first grade predict subsequent early numeracy skills above the effects of the autoregressive paths. These results highlight the importance of counting skills for later mathematical learning (Desoete et al., 2009; Geary et al., 2018; Krajewski & Schneider, 2009). However, already in the middle of first grade, basic arithmetic skills were the single most important subskill for later mathematical learning. This trend was evident among second graders as well, in the beginning of the school year. This is consistent with previous longitudinal studies on the effect of basic arithmetic skills on symbolic number knowledge (Vanbinst et al., 2019) and mathematical learning in general (Aunio & Niemivirta, 2010; LeFevre et al., 2006; Locuniak & Jordan, 2008).

In both first and second grade, latent profile analysis identified three early numeracy profiles that differed from the early numeracy skills in the beginning of the school year: well-performing, average-performing and at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. The three groups differed from each other at all three time points, except from the end of school year in first grade, wherein the differences between the well-performing children and the average-performing children were non-significant. These results indicate that the low-performing children have deficits in all early numeracy subskills and were not able to close the gap to their average- or well-performing peers. Our finding is supported by previous studies suggesting that low-performing children seem to benefit less from ordinary education than the average performing children (Aunola et al., 2004; Fuchs & Fuchs, 2006) and that the gap between the low-performing children and the average-performing children tends to persist and may even grow wider throughout the school years.

3.2 Study II

3.2.1 Aims

The aim of this study was to investigate the reliability and validity evidence of the Early Numeracy test for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in Swedish-speaking kindergartens and schools in Finland. The validity of the test was examined by collecting evidence related to structural validity, known group validity, and cross-cultural validity. The reliability evidence of the test was analysed based on internal consistency.

3.2.2 Participants, procedure, and measures

The participants in this study were 1139 children (587 girls) from 23 kindergartens and 26 primary schools in Swedish-speaking areas of Finland. The sample consisted of 361 children in kindergarten (185 girls), 321 children in first grade (162 girls), and 457 children in second grade (240 girls). The children ranged in age in kindergarten from 61 months to 85 months ($M_{\rm age}$ = 73.97; SD = 3.65), in first grade from 80 months to 111 months ($M_{\rm age}$ = 86.87; SD = 3.94), and in second grade from 91 months to 115 months ($M_{\rm age}$ = 98.38; SD = 3.65). Permission for children to participate in this study was obtained in writing from their parents. Children's early numeracy skills were assessed in the beginning of the school year with the Early Numeracy test. The assessment was administered by the classroom or special education teacher and was completed in an ordinary classroom setting during one or two lessons.

3.2.3 Analysis

To test the structural validity of the EN-test we conducted confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) with the weighted least squares means and variance estimation (WLSMV). The goodness of the model fit was evaluated using the chi-square test, the Comparative Fit Index (CFI), the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), and the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA). Multigroup CFAs were conducted to test both known-group validity and cross-cultural validity. Cronbach's alpha was used to calculate the internal consistency.

3.2.4 Results

Structural validity was established through CFA, were the overall goodnessof -fit indices of the test suggested that the four-factor model fit the data significantly better than a one-factor or two-factor model in all three age groups. In kindergarten the strongest correlation was found between CS and BA, whereas in first grade the strongest correlations were found between CS and NK and between CS and BA. In second grade the strongest correlation was found between CS and NK. Known-group validity and cross-cultural validity were invariant across gender, age, and language groups, indicating that the four-factor model fit the gender, age and language groups equally well. Internal consistency for the tests and sub-skills varied from good to excellent in all three age groups.

3.2.5 Discussion

This study aimed to investigate the reliability and validity evidence of the early numeracy test for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in Swedish-speaking kindergartens and schools in Finland. The EN-test was found to have adequate structural validity, known-group validity, cross-cultural validity, and internal consistency. The empirical data support the aim of measuring four early numeracy skills described in the model (Aunio & Räsänen, 2016): symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge, understanding mathematical relations, counting skills, and basic skills in arithmetic in the three age groups in kindergarten, first grade and second grade. Based on our results, the EN-test can be considered as an appropriate assessment to identify children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties.

The strength of the EN-test is that different early numeracy subskills are described and interpreted as different factors, in order to more specifically describe children's performance. Many of existing measurements have a unidimensional approach (e.g., MARKO-D test, Ricken et al., 2013; CMA, Starkey et al., 2004) and therefore do not enable a more comprehensive information of children's performance. A multidimensional construct has been found in some tests that have originally been seen as unidimensional, the Finnish ENT-test (Aunio et al., 2006) and TEMA-3 (Ryoo et al., 2015). A multifactorial approach to early numeracy is presented in frameworks that describe the conceptual structure of early numeracy and mathematical development in early school.

3.3 Study III

3.3.1 Aims

The aim of this study was to examine the effect of the new version of the adaptive computer game, the Number Race (NR), to enhance basic mathematical skills for children in first grade who were deemed to be low-performing in mathematics. A quasi-experimental research design was used with a low-performing intervention group, a low-performing comparison group, and an average-performing comparison group.

3.3.2 Participants, procedure, and measures

The participants in this study were 334 first graders (171 girls) from 23 different schools in Swedish-speaking areas of Finland. Permission for children to participate in this study was obtained in writing from their parents. Children's early numeracy skills were assessed three times during the school year with the Early Numeracy test: in the beginning, in the middle and in the end. The assessment was administered by the classroom or special education teacher and was completed in an ordinary classroom setting during one or two lessons.

Based on the first assessment low performing children (cut-off point at the lowest 20^{th} percentile) were identified and the children were assigned to three groups: a low-performing intervention group (n = 29; M_{age} = 86.24; SD = 4.79), a low-performing comparison group (n = 27; M_{age} = 86.04; SD = 3.91) and an average-performing comparison group (n = 278; M_{age} = 86.53; SD = 3.79). The trained research assistants visited the schools to install the NR and to guide teachers towards accomplishing the intervention. The intervention was supervised by the classroom or special education teacher or class assistant. In addition to ordinary teacher instruction in mathematics, the intervention group received NR training for 15-minute sessions, 3-4 days per week, during a four-week period. During the intervention, the teachers were asked to keep a logbook of the process (child's name, date of play, minutes of play, and some voluntary note), for fidelity purposes. The NR intervention took place between the second and third assessments.

3.3.3 Analysis

Separate ANOVAs with post hoc comparisons were used to compare the overall early numeracy performance within and between groups at the three time points (T1, T2, and T3). The effectiveness of the NR intervention between T2 and T3, when the intervention took place, was analysed by conducting a 2 (T2 and T3) x 3 (NR group, low-comparison, and average-comparison) mixed factorial ANOVA. The partial eta squared (η^2_p) was used to measure the effect size. MANOVAs were conducted for each time point to compare the NR group to the two comparison groups in the subskills.

3.3.4 Results

The ANOVAs revealed significant differences and large effect sizes between the groups in overall mathematical performance at T1, T2, and T3. However, the difference between the NR group and the low-comparison group in overall mathematical performance was not significant at any of the three time points. Mixed factorial ANOVA did also reveal a non-significant time * group interaction, indicating that the intervention did not have a

significant effect. MANOVAs revealed a large statistically significant main effect for the groups when looking at the subskills separately. The difference between the NR group and the low-performing comparison group at the three time points were not statistically significant in any of the subskills. No statistically significant correlations were found concerning duration (minutes of play) and performance at T3, nor between intensity (number of occasions of play) and performance at T3.

3.3.5 Discussion

In this study a quasi-experimental research design to investigate the effectiveness of the NR computer game in enhancing low performing first grade children's mathematical performance. The group comparisons between the low-performing intervention group, the low-performing comparison group, and the average-performing comparison group revealed no evidence for the effect of the intervention on children's early numeracy performance. At none of the three time point assessments did the low performing groups differ significantly from the low-performing comparison group, which only received ordinary classroom instruction in mathematics during the intervention period. The average-performing comparison group did outperform children in both low-performing groups at all time points. These results suggest that the low-performing children in our study did not gain from playing the NR-game that focus on enhancing the children's non-symbolic and symbolic number knowledge, practicing the links between number representations, conceptualizing automating arithmetic, and emphasizing approximate non-symbolic and symbolic comparison.

Our results are contradictory to previous CAI-studies using the NR-game that has given promising results (Obersteiner et al., 2013; Räsänen et al., 2009; Sella et al., 2016; Wilson, Dehaene et al., 2006; Wilson et al., 2009). However, in previous studies the children receiving intervention has either been kindergarteners (Räsänen et al., 2009; Salminen et al., 2015; Sella et al., 2016; Wilson et al., 2009), children from a specific target group (low socio-economic status: Wilson et al., 2009; with MLD: Salminen et al., 2015; Wilson, Revkin et al. 2006) or the intervention has been conducted in a more controlled setting (Obersteiner et al., 2013). It is possible that the children in the intervention group had already mastered these skills on a higher level than the NR could provide practice or that the EN-test was not sensitive enough to capture or match the skills trained in the NR-game. Our study was conducted in an authentic school setting, highlighting the importance of targeted interventions that are easily to conduct in the general classroom to enhance children's early numeracy skills.

4. General Discussion

The aim of this thesis was to contribute to the research on early numeracy development by focusing on identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten and early school years, with a focus on improving evidence-based educational practice. Overall, the results of this thesis demonstrated support for the importance of using evidence-based tools for assessment and identification of children's early numeracy skills. Our findings support a multidimensional construct of early numeracy skills, where counting skills and basic arithmetical skills were found to be important predictors of later early numeracy skills in the early school years. The validity and reliability evidence of the EN-test were supported, indicating that the EN-test fit its purpose. In the computer-assisted intervention with the NR-game the low-performing children did not improve their early numeracy skills compared to the control groups, indicating the need for targeted interventions.

4.1 Development of Early Numeracy Core Skills during One School Year

The first research question for this thesis focused on how the early numeracy core skills are related and how they develop during one school year in first and second grades. Counting skills at the beginning of first grade were found to be an important predictor of later early numeracy skills while basic arithmetic skills emerged as a key predictor of later early numeracy skills in both grades. Counting skills has been emphasised as a foundational skill in existing frameworks of early numeracy skills development (Fritz et al., 2013; Krajewski & Schneider, 2009; Sarama & Clements, 2009; Steffe, 1992; Wright et al., 2006). Furthermore, counting skills have been found to be related to overall mathematical learning (Desoete et al., 2009) and a predictor for later mathematical learning (e.g., Krajewski & Schneider, 2009; Geary et al., 2018). The importance and the predictive value of counting skills are understandable as counting skills include, for example, enumeration, counting sequence and mapping numbers and numerals, skills that are considered essential for developing further arithmetical skills. Furthermore, counting skills are a key deficit in mathematical learning disabilities. Deficits in understanding counting concepts and relying on counting-based strategies have been identified in children with developmental dyscalculia, along with deficits in arithmetic fact retrieval and committing more procedural errors than their peers (Geary & Hoard, 2003; Zhang et al., 2020).

Recent research literature has highlighted the importance of symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge for later mathematical learning.

Understanding and operating with number symbols and quantities are also a key aspect in many existing early numeracy frameworks (e.g., Krajewski & Schneider, 2009; Sarama & Clements, 2009). However, the core early numeracy subskills symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge and mathematical relational skills did not play a major role in predicting subsequent early numeracy skills in first and second grade. Although especially symbolic number knowledge is suggested to have predictive value, it might be that symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge is more critical before formal education (Chew et al., 2019; Reeve et al., 2012). Understanding mathematical relations, especially arithmetical principles (e.g., ordinality, cardinality, and decomposition) has been emphasised in existing frameworks of early numeracy development (e.g., Fritz et al., 2013; Krajewski & Schneider, 2009) and in recent research literature (Geary et al., 2018; Stock et al., 2007). It is possible that these skills were more critical in the arithmetical tasks, as understanding these concepts and principles helps children in counting and judging the correctness of arithmetical tasks (Geary et al., 2007). Being able to examine the relation of symbolic and nonsymbolic number knowledge and mathematical relational skills to other early numeracy skills also in kindergarten could have provided different and additional value.

In both first and second grades three distinct early numeracy profiles were found: well-performing, average-performing and at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. In both grades, all three profiles were substantially different from each other at all three time points, except at the end of first grade, wherein the differences between the well-performing children and the average-performing children were non-significant in terms of symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge and basic skills in arithmetic. This may indicate that the average-performing children improved their non-symbolic and symbolic number knowledge and basic skills in arithmetic, or that the well-performing children did not improve their skills as much as their peers. On the other hand, this could be an indicator that the EN-test was not able to differentiate between the two profiles any longer at the end of first grade. However, the EN-test is constructed to differentiate low-performing children from their average performing peers, and so focusing on children who are at risk for mathematical learning difficulties, and its sensitivity and specificity are not designed to differentiate children's performance on the other end of the spectrum. The developmental trajectories of the profiles are in line with previous findings. Most of the previous longitudinal person-centred studies have focused on the development of a specific early numeracy subskill over one school year and have been conducted with younger children (e.g., Gray & Reeve, 2016; Salminen et al., 2018). The variable-centred longitudinal studies have focused on the predictive value of a specific early numeracy subskill instead of investigating different components of early numeracy, or on the longitudinal relations within a specific early numeracy subskill (e.g., counting or symbolic magnitude comparison). As early numeracy is not a unidimensional factor this approach gives only a limited picture how the early numeracy skills develop and are interrelated.

The complexity of early numeracy skills and the fact that subskills are developmentally intertwined with each other presents challenges for research on early numeracy. However, in order to not only differentiate low-performing children from their peers, but also get more information on children's strengths and needs, it is important to describe and interpret subskills as separate factors (Purpura & Lonigan, 2013; Ryoo et al., 2015).

4.2 Identifying Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties with Evidence-based Assessment

The second research question focused on the reliability and validity of the EN-test for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten, first grade and second grade. In Study II, the psychometric properties of the EN-test for the three age groups were investigated at the beginning of the school year. Identifying children at risk for mathematical learning requires valid and reliable assessment tools that not only differentiate the low-performing children but also give more specific information regarding what particular subskills should be supported (Aunio, 2019; Purpura & Lonigan, 2015). The EN-test was found to have adequate structural validity, supporting the multidimensional structure of the EN-test with four distinct subskills, indicating that the EN-test can provide both information on children's early numeracy skills on an overall level and more detailed information on children's performance concerning the four early numeracy subskills. A multidimensional structure of early numeracy skills with different subskills enables researchers and educators to examine children's performance, strengths, and needs more specifically and plan more targeted interventions based on this information (Purpura & Lonigan, 2013; Ryoo et al., 2015). The EN-test can provide more extensive and detailed information about children's performance than can be offered in narrower scales with a unidimensional structure.

The cross-cultural validity and known-group validity provided evidence that the EN-test is suitable for use in the average heterogeneous classroom, as the cross-cultural validity supported that the EN-test works equally well and measures the same constructs across girls and boys and younger and older children within grade, and the known-group validity supported the comparability in the two language groups. Furthermore, the reliability of the EN-test was supported by evidence for the internal consistency, indicating that the items measure the same construct. The values of internal consistency were similar to other existing early numeracy tests that have

reported evidence for internal consistency (e.g., Geary et al., 2009; Jordan et al., 2012).

Findings from Study I additionally supported the predictive validity of the EN-test in early school years, as profiles of low-performing children who significantly differed from the average- and well-performing children were identified in both first and second grades. In both grades, the profiles of low-performing children showed lower performance level than their peers at all subskills at all three time points. Also, in Study III a group of low-performing children in first grade were identified based on their performance in the EN-test in the beginning of school year. In this study a cut-off at the lowest 20th percentile was used to differentiate the lowest performing group of children from their average-performing peers. The low-performing children performed lower than the average-performing peers across the school year in all early numeracy subskills. Even though the low-performing children received an intervention at the end of the school year, they were not able to improve their early numeracy skills to the same level as their average peers. At none of the three time point assessments did the intervention groups differ significantly from the lowperforming comparison group, which received ordinary classroom instruction in mathematics during the intervention period. However, when comparing the children in the intervention group to their low-performing peers, neither did the low-performing peers close the gap with their average-performing peers.

Our finding is supported by previous studies suggesting that low-performing children seem to benefit less from ordinary education than typically performing children (Aunola et al., 2004; Fuchs & Fuchs, 2006) and that the gap between the low-performing children and the average-performing children tends to persist and may even grow wider throughout the school years (Aunola et al., 2006; Jordan et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2020). This highlights the importance of continuously assessing children's early numeracy skills at several assessment points within and across grades, which the EN-test for three age groups and three subtests within a grade enables. Assessments at several time points are not only important in order to follow up and identify low-performing children, but they are also required for decisions on at-risk status (Geary, 2013; Mazzocco & Räsänen, 2013). Study I provided support for the possibility of using the different versions of the EN-test for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in early school years.

The EN-test was constructed to assess children's early numeracy skills and identify children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten, first grade, and second grade simply and efficiently. The psychometric criteria evidence that EN-test fits its purpose was found, as a profile of low-performing children that differed from their average- and well-performing peers was identified. However, the LPAs were not able to

differentiate the low-performing children in two groups (i.e., low-performing and MLD/developmental dyscalculia), which may either indicate that the EN-test is not sensitive enough to differentiate the lowest performing children that might have more severe mathematical learning disabilities or that it may not be possible to differentiate these two groups in early school years.

The first argument is based on the findings that symbolic magnitude processing skills have been suggested to be a strong predictor for later mathematical learning (De Smedt et al., 2013; Schneider et al., 2016) and the core of mathematical learning disabilities (Price & Ansari, 2013). However, the symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge skills were measured and operationalised narrowly in the EN-test both concerning number of tasks and the content in the tasks. The other argument is based on findings that the importance of specific early numeracy subskills differs depending on where children are in their learning process (Desoete et al., 2012; Geary, 2013). Additionally, a developmental shift from focus on nonsymbolic number knowledge to symbolic number knowledge in early school years is suggested (Desoete et al., 2012). The development of early numeracy skills and the relation between the early numeracy skills were not investigated concerning kindergarten. This could have contributed to this question of whether it is possible to identify children with mathematical learning disabilities before formal education and if there is a developmental shift in these skills. However, answering these questions may need a more sensitive assessment than the group- and paper-and-penbased EN-test that aims to identify those children that are in need of support.

4.3 Supporting Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties with Computer Assisted Interventions

The third research question focused on how children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties can be supported with a computer-assisted intervention using the research-based computer game NR. In Study III, the group comparisons between the low-performing intervention group, the low-performing comparison group, and the average-performing comparison group in first grade revealed no evidence for the effect of the intervention on children's early numeracy performance. We suggest that the differences between our results and findings from previous studies originate in the characteristics of our target group (age, low performance on EN-test) as well as the early numeracy skills that were practiced in the NR (symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge, especially comparing magnitudes and numbers) compared to the early numeracy skills measured

by the EN-test (symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge, understanding mathematical relations, counting skills and basic skills in arithmetic).

Contradictory to previous studies with promising results of the NR game, our study was conducted with first graders in an authentic school setting. Previous studies have either been conducted with younger children (kindergarteners: Räsänen et al., 2009; Salminen et al., 2015; Sella et al., 2016; Wilson et al., 2009), with children from a specific target group (low socio-economic status: Wilson et al., 2009) with children with severe mathematical learning disabilities (Salminen et al., 2015; Wilson, Revkin et al., 2006) or in a more controlled setting (Obersteiner et al., 2013). The intensity and duration of the NR intervention did not differ from previous NR studies. However, it is suggested that an effective intervention should include several sessions over a specific time period (e.g., six weeks to six months) (Gersten et al., 2008). A consideration for further studies is to consider the length of the intervention more clearly. However, if the content in the intervention is not individualised based on children's strengths and need, increasing the length would not be sufficient per se.

In our study the NR-intervention group were compared to their peers receiving ordinary instruction (i.e., business as usual) during the intervention period. Unfortunately, it is not clear if the intervention was conducted as a complement to or instead of ordinary classroom instruction in mathematics, or how the instruction in class was conducted during the time of the intervention. However, during the school year no significant differences were found between the intervention group and their low-performing peers at any of the time points. A delayed post-test could have shown some significant differences, or at least strengthen the evidence for, or lack of, sustainable learning effects as a result of the NR-intervention.

In previous studies where CAIs have been contrasted to ordinary classroom instructions there have been contradictory findings, ranging from it is effective to it is less effective than teacher instruction (Dennis et al., 2016). Even though CAI can offer one-to-one interaction, high motivation, instantaneous response, the possibility to proceed at one's own pace and level, individual attention, and multimodal presentation of concepts (Fengfeng, 2008), there are limitations even with research-based and adaptive CAI programs. It might be that the educator can more flexibly modify the instruction based on children's strengths, needs and progress, compared to a software program. Even though NR is an adaptive game that is constructed to maintain the difficulty of the tasks and provide the child with exactly the required difficulty level the focus is still on a specific early numeracy skill. It might be that the children in the NR group did not benefit from practicing the non-symbolic and symbolic number knowledge skills; instead, they could have benefitted from systematic and explicit instructions on counting skills or mathematical relational skills. The findings from Study I indicated that the majority of children by the end of first grade have acquired solid non-symbolic and symbolic number knowledge, which indicates that the NR game could be adequate for those children with most severe mathematical learning difficulties in first grade and not for low-performing children per se.

Also, previous studies have highlighted the importance of targeted interventions. Even though an intervention tool is evidence-based and includes features that are supported in research (e.g., systematic and explicit instruction, concrete-representational-abstract, CAI or games) it does not necessarily mean it will be effective for all children. It is important to carefully and critically choose which software to use in a computer-assisted intervention (Gersten et al., 2008). Overall, children benefit from extra support, but individualised interventions that pin specific skills seem to be more effective than interventions that disregard individual differences (Dowker & Sigley, 2010).

4.4 Strengths and Limitations

This thesis has strengths that offer a contribution to the research on early numeracy skills development and how to identify and support children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten and early school years with evidence-based tools. However, there are also some limitations concerning both methodological and practical issues that should be addressed. The strength of this study is in the longitudinal data from three time points from first and second grades and additionally one time point in kindergarten, offering the possibilities to examine both the relations between early numeracy skills (variable-centred approach) and differences among early numeracy profiles (person-centred approach). Early numeracy skills were operationalised with a multifactorial approach, highlighting the multidimensional construct of early numeracy skills that enable a deeper understanding of how the early numeracy skills are related over time and how individual learning trajectories develop compared to studies with a more narrow approach to early numeracy.

The use of the EN-test for measuring children's early numeracy performance is both a strength and a limitation in this thesis. However, it is notable that the aim for this thesis would not have been possible to achieve without an appropriate early numeracy test. Examining the psychometric criteria for EN-tests provides valuable information about the assessment tool and evidence that the test can fulfil its purpose to identify children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten and first and second grades. The reliability and validity of the EN-test was examined and compared to many other tests and several psychometric criteria reported. This thesis provides evidence for the construct validity in terms of

structural validity, cross-cultural validity and known-group validity, criterion validity in terms of predictive validity, and reliability in terms of internal consistency. Investigating other psychometric criteria (e.g., testretest and inter-rater reliability, concurrent and convergent validity) was left outside this thesis. However, for example, concurrent validity was not possible to examine as no other norm-referenced test was available for the target groups (age and language). Additionally, the predictive validity was investigated only across one school year in first and second grades. A longitudinal design over several years would have given a deeper understanding of the children's learning trajectories and additional evidence for the predictive validity.

The limitations concerning the use of the EN-test for measuring children's early numeracy performance mainly tap the construct of the EN-test. Due to the construct of the EN-test all four subskills could not be measured at all the time points and the content and number of tasks per subskill differed across grades. Therefore, it was not possible to investigate the relations between all the four subskills at the three time points. In kindergarten only counting skills were measured at the three time points and therefore this age group was not included in Study I, as it was not possible to analyse the relations between subskills. Another reason for excluding kindergarten from Study I is the differences between the content and aims in the kindergarten and the compulsory formal education. However, examining the predictive validity of the EN-test in kindergarten would be of interest, as predictive validity is especially important for a test that aims to identify children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties.

An additional limitation concerning the EN-test is how symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge was operationalised and measured. In the EN-test symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge is measured with tasks requiring knowledge of symbols and number words, for example, when comparing numbers, listening to number words and using number symbols to answer the paper-and-pen tasks. The focus is mainly on the symbolic numerical processes and the accuracy in answering the tasks. In other related studies, reaction times are often used as a more sensitive measure of numerical magnitude processing, as reaction time can tap the distance effect (i.e., the numerical distance between the magnitudes compared effect the speed and accuracy in the performance) and size effect (i.e., the numerical value and the number range effect the speed and accuracy in the performance). Reaction time is most often measured with computerized tasks (De Smedt et al., 2013). In a study by Brankaer and colleagues (2016) paper-and-pen tests were suggested to be an adequate measure of symbolic magnitude processing. However, in their test (Symbolic Magnitude Processing Test, SYMP test) the number of tasks was more extensive, and the test focused only on this particular early numeracy subskill. As a consequence of the operationalisation and measurement of symbolic number comparison and magnitude processing and based on recent research, the concept of symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge was used instead of symbolic and non-symbolic number sense that Aunio and Räsänen (2016) used in their model of core early numeracy skills.

It is possible that these issues concerning the construct of the EN-test and the operationalisation of symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge may have reflected the results of studying the effect of the NR intervention to enhance children's early numeracy skills. The effectiveness of the NR intervention was measured based on the performance in the ENtest before and after the intervention. The NR game focuses on practicing various number presentations and the transformations between symbolic and non-symbolic number representations and the children solve the tasks individually in the software environment, where the tasks are presented multimodally, whereas the EN-test focuses on four core early numeracy skills and the children solve the tasks individually on paper based on verbal instructions from the educator. Closely matching the focus in the intervention and the assessment could have led to different effects for the intervention. The results from Study I also indicate that the intervention for the low-performing children in this age group should focus on counting skills and basic arithmetic skills rather than on numeric comparisons. As the intervention was planned and carried out before analysing the development and interrelations of the early numeracy skills, these findings were not utilised for the intervention. Consequently, this points out the importance of using the information from assessments for planning interventions.

Another limitation in the NR intervention is that the children in the NR intervention group were identified as low-performing based on the assessment at the beginning of the school year (i.e., 7–8 months before the intervention started). However, in educational practice this kind of solution can be authentic, which only highlights the importance of continuous and reliable assessments that provide extensive information regarding the children's needs that is useful in planning and conducting targeted interventions. Information on how the intervention was conducted (e.g., as a part of or complement to ordinary classroom instruction, did the children get additional support during the intervention period) would have provided more information needed to interpret the efficacy of the intervention.

Concerning identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties, this study only focused on measuring early numeracy performance and limited background information on the participants was collected. It is known that various factors, for example cognitive, emotional, motivational, sociocultural and emotional factors affect the early numeracy performance (Geary, 2013; Price & Ansari, 2013). Especially language skills,

executive functions (e.g., working memory and inhibition) and kindergarten attendance have shown to predict early numeracy skills development (Aunio et al., 2019). The test situation requires attention, working memory and language skills, especially quantity language (i.e., more, less, fewer and double) which can affect the child's early numeracy performance. In future studies, including these factors in studies of early numeracy development would be of interest both in understanding the underlying causes of low performance and construct of early numeracy, but also how it affects individual learning trajectories and the intervention effects. However, these questions are not easy to address in studies conducted in authentic school settings but are important for diagnostics and highlight the current research interest of early numeracy predictors and risk factors, and whether it is possible to identify children with mathematical learning disabilities before formal education. However, the purpose of the EN-test is expressly to be an assessment for identifying children at risk, which means differentiating those children that are in need of additional support from their average-performing peers. In educational practice identifying children in need of support and providing them with adequate support are more important than differentiating the children with mathematical learning disabilities from their low-performing peers (Mazzocco & Räsänen, 2013).

4.5 Implications for Educational Practice

This thesis has an aspiration to improve educational practice by emphasising early numeracy skills, early identification and support and providing educators with examples of evidence-based tools for identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. Identifying and supporting children at an early stage has the potential to reduce the risk for mathematical learning difficulties (Gersten et al., 2011), but it requires valid and reliable tools for identification and support (Aunio, 2019; Purpura & Lonigan, 2015). Based on the findings the EN-test can be suggested as a simple and adequate group-based assessment tool for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties within and across grades. The three subtests across grades enable continuous assessment at several time points. Findings from Study I support that the assessment should be a continuous process and children's early numeracy skills should not be assessed only at the beginning of the school year.

Additionally, the EN-test is based on a theoretical framework that can provide educators with an evidence-based working model and improve their understanding of early numeracy development and relations between early numeracy skills in order to identify and support core skills in children's early numeracy development. It is argued that educators need

evidence-based guidance to improve their knowledge regarding what to focus on in supporting children's early numeracy skills (Clements & Sarama, 2014; Desoete et al., 2009). This thesis provides empirical validation for the model of core early numeracy skills (Aunio & Räsänen, 2016), suggesting it to be an adequate working model for educators. A framework suitable as a working model in educational practice should be both specific in the operationalisation of the core skills but flexible enough to offer educators the possibility to choose the best way to support these skills (Pegg, 2003). The model of core early numeracy skills by Aunio and Räsänen provides specific information on the core early numeracy skills and their relations but gives the educators possibilities to choose how to work with these skills. The model of core early numeracy skills can provide an evidence-based working model for educators that brings the assessment and instruction closer to each other.

In the Finnish three-tier system assessment for identification is emphasised. A problem in Finland has been the lack of evidence-based assessment tools for identifying and interventions for supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties (Björn et al., 2018). The ENtest is the first and currently still the only research-based assessment tool for identifying children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties for Swedish speaking children in Finland. An additional advantage with both the EN-test and the NR game are that both are freely available for all educators. The EN-test is available in two languages, whereas the NR game is available in several more. However, the findings from the NR intervention highlight the importance of targeted interventions, as a particular intervention may not be effective for all children. The Number Race game can provide good support for some children but for providing low-performing children with adequate support, there should be a selection of freely available evidence-based tools.

4.6 Conclusions

Identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties are important in order to provide all children with foundational early numeracy skills in kindergarten and early school years. For this, evidence-based tools for identification and support are needed. This thesis highlights the importance of which early numeracy skills are the most fundamental, which children we need to identify and support, and how these children can be identified and supported with an evidence-based assessment and an intervention.

In this thesis early numeracy was studied based on a multidimensional structure and operationalised through four early numeracy subskills: symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge, understanding

mathematical relations, counting skills and basic skills in arithmetic (Aunio & Räsänen, 2016). This thesis indicates that the EN-test is an efficient and reliable assessment that both identifies the children in need of support and provides information on what particular subskills should be in supported in the targeted interventions. This thesis supports earlier findings on the importance of identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties at an early stage and highlights the importance of a multidimensional approach to early numeracy in identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties.

References

- American Educational Research
 Association, American Psychological
 Association, National Council on
 Measurement in Education, Joint
 Committee on Standards for
 Educational and Psychological
 Testing (U.S.). (2014). Standards for
 educational and psychological
 testing. AERA.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th Ed.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.book s.9780890423349.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th Ed.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.book s.9780890425596
- Aunio, P. (2019). Early Numeracy Skills Learning and Learning Difficulties—Evidence-based Assessment and Interventions. In D. Geary, D. Berch, & K.M. Koepke (Eds.), Cognitive Foundations for Improving Mathematical Learning (Vol. 5, 1st edition, pp. 195-214). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-815952-1.00008-6
- Aunio, P., Hautamäki, J., Heiskari, P., & Van Luit, J. E. H. (2006). The Early Numeracy Test in Finnish: Children's norms. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 47(5),* 369–378. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9450.2006.00538.x
- Aunio, P., Korhonen, J., Ragpot, L., Törmänen, M., Mononen, R., & Henning, E. (2019). Multi-factorial approach to early numeracy The effects of cognitive skills, language factors and kindergarten attendance on early numeracy performance of South African first graders. *International Journal of*

- Educational Research, 97, 65-76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2019 .06.011
- Aunio, P., & Mononen, R. (2018). The Effects of Educational Computer Game on Low-Performing Children's Early Numeracy Skills: An Intervention Study in a Preschool Setting. European Journal of Special Needs Education 33 (5), 677–691. https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2017.1412640.
- Aunio, P. & Niemivirta, M. (2010).

 Predicting children's mathematical performance in grade one by early numeracy. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 20(5), 427–435.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2010.06.003
- Aunio, P. & Räsänen, P. (2016). Core numerical skills for learning arithmetic in children aged five to eight years a working model for educators. European Early Childhood Education Research Journal, 24(5), 684-704. https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2014.996424
- Aunola, K., Leskinen, E., Lerkkanen, M-K., & Nurmi, J-E. (2004).

 Developmental dynamics of math performance from preschool to grade 2. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 96(4), 699–713. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.96.4.699
- Aunola, K., Leskinen, E., & Nurmi, J.E. (2006). Developmental dynamics between mathematical performance, task motivation, and teachers' goals during the transition to primary school. *British Journal of Educational Psychology, 76 (Pt 1)*, 21-40. https://doi.org/10.1348/00070990 5X51608

- Baroody, A. (1999). Children's Relational Knowledge of Addition and Subtraction. *Cognition and Instruction*, *17* (2), 137–175. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532690 XCI170201
- Baroody, A. J., Eiland, M. D., Purpura, D. J., & Reid, E. E. (2013). Can computer-assisted discovery learning foster first graders' fluency with the most basic addition combinations? *American Educational Research Journal*, 50(3), 533-573. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312 12473349
- Baroody, A. J., Wilkins, J. L., & Tiilikainen, S. H. (2003). The development of children's understanding of additive commutativity: From protoquantitive concept to general concept? In A.J. Baroody & A. Dowker (Eds.). The Development of Arithmetic Concepts and Skills: Constructive Adaptive Expertise (pp. 127-160). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Benavides-Varela, S., Callegher, C. Z., Fagiolini, B., Leo, I., Altoè, G., & Lucangeli, D. (2020). Effectiveness of digital-based interventions for children with mathematical learning difficulties: a metaanalysis. *Computers & Education*, 157, 103953. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103953
- Biddlecomb, B. & Carr, M. (2011). A longitudinal study of the development of mathematics strategies and underlying counting schemes. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 9 (1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-010-9202-y
- Bisanz, J., Sherman, J. L., Rasmussen, C., & Ho, E. (2005). Development of arithmetic skills and knowledge in preschool children. In J. I. D.

- Campbell (Ed.), *Handbook of mathematical cognition* (p. 143–162). Psychology Press.
- Björn, P. M., Aro, M., Koponen, T., Fuchs, L. S., & Fuchs, D. H. (2016). The Many Faces of Special Education Within RTI Frameworks in the United States and Finland. *Learning Disability Quarterly, 39 (1)*, 58-66. https://doi.org/10.1177/07319487 15594787
- Björn, P. M., Aro, M., Koponen, T., Fuchs, L. S., & Fuchs, D. (2018). Responseto-intervention in Finland and the United States: Mathematics learning support as an example. Frontiers in Psychology, 9, 800. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.201 8.00800
- Brankaer, C., Ghesquière, P., & De Smedt, B. (2014). Children's mapping between non-symbolic and symbolic numerical magnitudes and its association with timed and untimed tests of mathematics achievement. *PloS one*, *9*(4), e93565. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.po ne.0093565
- Brown, T.A. (2006). *Confirmatory Factor Analysis for Applied Research*.
 The Guilford Press.
- Butterworth, B. (2005). The development of arithmetical abilities. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 46(1), 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2005.00374.x
- Butterworth, B., Varma, S., & Laurillard, D. (2011). Dyscalculia: from brain to education. *Science, 332(6033),* 1049-1053. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.12 01536
- Cai, D., Zhang, L., Li, Y., Wei, W., & Georgiou, G. K. (2018). The role of approximate number system in different mathematics skills across grades. Frontiers in Psychology, 9, 1733.

- https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.201 8.01733
- Celeux, G. & Soromenho, G. (1996). An entropy criterion for assessing the number of clusters in a mixture model. *Journal of Classification*, 13(2), 195–212.
- Cheung, A. C., & Slavin, R. E. (2013). The effectiveness of educational technology applications for enhancing mathematics achievement in K-12 classrooms: A meta-analysis. *Educational research review*, 9, 88-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2 013.01.001.
- Chew, C. S., Forte, J. D., & Reeve, R. A. (2019). Implications of Change/Stability Patterns in Children's Non-symbolic and Symbolic Magnitude Judgment Abilities Over One Year: A Latent Transition Analysis. Frontiers in Psychology, 10, 441. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00441
- Chodura, S., Kuhn, J-T., & Holling, H. (2015). Interventions for Children with Mathematical Difficulties. A Meta-analysis. *Zeitschrift für Psychologie*, 223 (2), 129–144. https://doi.org/10.1027/2151-2604/a000211
- Chu, F. W., Rouder, J., & Geary, D. C. (2018). Children's early understanding of number predicts their later problem-solving sophistication in addition. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 169, 73-92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2017.12.010
- Clements, D. H. & Sarama, J.H. (2011). Early childhood mathematics intervention. *Science*, 333(6045), 968–970. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.12 04537
- Clements, D.H. & Sarama, J.H. (2014). *Learning and teaching early math:*

- *The learning trajectories approach.* Routledge.
- Clements, D.H., Sarama, J.H., & Liu, X.H. (2008). Development of a measure of early mathematics achievement using the Rasch model: The Research-based Early Maths Assessment. Educational Psychology, 28(4), 457-482. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410701777272
- Dehaene, S. (1997/2011). Number sense. *How the mind creates mathematics*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Dehaene, S., O. Maslov, P. Räsänen, et al. (2012). *The Number Race, version 3.0.* http://sourceforge.net/projects/numberrace
- Dennis, M. S., Sharp, E., Chovanes, J., Thomas, A., Burns, R. M., Custer, B., & Park, J. (2016). A meta-analysis of empirical research on teaching students with mathematics learning difficulties. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice, 31(3)*, 156-168. https://doi.org/10.1111/ldrp.1210
- De Smedt, B., & Gilmore, C. K. (2011).

 Defective number module or impaired access? Numerical magnitude processing in first graders with mathematical difficulties. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 108, 278–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2010.09.003
- De Smedt, B., Noël, M. P., Gilmore, C., & Ansari, D. (2013). How do symbolic and non-symbolic numerical magnitude processing skills relate to individual differences in children's mathematical skills? A review of evidence from brain and behavior. *Trends in Neuroscience and Education*, *2*(2), 48-55. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tine.20 13.06.001
- Desoete, A., Ceulemans, A., De Weerdt, F., & Pieters, S. (2012). Can we

- predict mathematical learning disabilities from symbolic and non-symbolic comparison taskin kindergarten? Findings from a longitudinal study. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 64–81. https://doi.org/10.1348/2044-8279.002002
- Desoete, A., Ceulemans, A., Roeyers, H., & Huylebroeck, A. (2009). Subitizing or counting as possible screening variables for learning disabilities in mathematics education or learning? *Educational Research Review, 4(1),* 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2 008.11.003
- Desoete, A., Stock, P., Schepens, A.,
 Baeyens, D., & Roeyers, H. (2009).
 Classification, Seriation, and
 Counting in Grades 1, 2, and 3 as
 Two-Year Longitudinal Predictors
 for Low Achieving in Numerical
 Facility and Arithmetical
 Achievement? Journal of
 Psychoeducational Assessment,
 27(3), 252–264.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/07342829
 08330588
- Dowker, A. (2005). Individual
 Differences in Arithmetic:
 Implications for Psychology,
 Neuroscience and Education. Hove:
 Psychology Press.
- Dowker, A. (2008). Individual differences in numerical abilities in preschoolers. *Developmental Science*, *11*(5), 650–654. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2008.00713.x
- Dowker, A. & Sigley, G. (2010). Targeted Interventions for Children with Arithmetical Difficulties. *British Journal of Educational Psychology, 7*, 65–83. https://doi.org/10.1348/97818543 370009X12583699332492
- Dyson, N., Jordan, N. C., & Glutting, J. (2011). A number sense intervention for low-income kindergartners at risk for

- mathematics difficulties. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *46(2)*, 166–181. https://doi.org/10.1177/00222194
- Estrada-Mejia, C., De Vries, M., & Zeelenberg, M. (2016). Numeracy and wealth. *Journal of Economic Psychology, 54*, 53-63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2016.02.011
- Fengfeng, K. (2008). A Case Study of Computer Gaming for Math:
 Engaged Learning from Gameplay?
 Computers and Education, 51 (4),
 1609–1620.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2008.03.003.
- Finnish National Board of Education. (2004). Grunderna för läroplanen för den grundläggande utbildningen 2004 [National Core Curriculum for Basic Education 2004]. National Board of Education. http://www02.oph.fi/svenska/ops/grundskola/LPgrundl.pdf
- Finnish National Board of Education. (2010). Grunderna för förskoleundervisningens läroplan 2010. [National Core Curriculum for Kindergarten Education 2010]. National Board of Education. https://www.oph.fi/sites/default/files/documents/131117_grunderna_for_forskoleundervisningens_laroplan_2010.pdf
- Finnish National Board of Education. (2014a). Grunderna för förskoleundervisningens läroplan 2014 [National Core Curriculum for Kindergarten Education 2014]. National Board of Education. https://www.oph.fi/sites/default/files/documents/174850_grundernafor_forskoleundervisningens_laroplan_2014_0.pdf
- Finnish National Board of Education. (2014b). *Grunderna för läroplanen för den grundläggande utbildningen 2014* [National Core Curriculum for Basic Education 2014]. National

- Board of Education. https://www.oph.fi/sites/default/fi les/documents/166434_grunderna_ for_laroplanen_verkkojulkaisu.pdf
- Fritz, A., Ehlert, A., & Balzer, L. (2013).

 Development of mathematical concepts as basis for an elaborated mathematical understanding. South African Journal of Childhood Education, 3(1), 38–67.

 https://doi.org/10.4102/sajce.v3i1. 31
- Fuchs, L.S. (2016). Curriculum-Based Measurement as the Emerging Alternative: Three Decades Later. Learning Disabilities Research and Practice 32(1), 5–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/ldrp.12127
- Fuchs, D., & Fuchs, L. (2006).
 Introduction to Response to
 Intervention: What, why, and how
 valid is it? *Reading Research*Quarterly, 41(1), 93–99.
 https://doi.org/10.1598/RRQ.41.1.
 4
- Fuchs, L., Fuchs, D., & Hollenbeck, K.N. (2007). Extending Responsiveness to Intervention to Mathematics at First and Third Grades. *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 22, 13-24. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1540-5826.2007.00227.X
- Fuchs, L.S. (2016). Curriculum-Based Measurement as the Emerging Alternative: Three Decades Later. Learning Disabilities Research & Practice, 32(1), 5–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/ldrp.1212
- Geary, D.C. (2011). Consequences, Characteristics, and Causes of Mathematical Learning Disabilities and Persistent Low Achievement in Mathematics. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics, 32*, 250-263. https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b01 3e318209edef

- Geary, D. C. (2013). Early Foundations for Mathematics Learning and Their Relations to Learning Disabilities. *Current Directions in Psychological Science, 22(1),* 23–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/09637214 12469398
- Geary, D. C., & Hoard, M. K. (2003). Learning disabilities in basic mathematics. Mathematical cognition. In J. M. Royers (Ed.) *Mathematical Cognition* (pp. 93-115). Information Age Publishing Inc.
- Geary, D. C., Hoard, M. K., Byrd-Craven, J., Nugent, L., & Numtee, C. (2007). Cognitive mechanisms underlying achievement deficits in children with mathematical learning disability. *Child Development, 78 (4)*, 1343-1369. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01069.x
- Geary, D. C., Hoard, M. K., Nugent, L., & Bailey, D. H. (2012). Mathematical cognition deficits in children with learning disabilities and persistent low achievement: a five-year prospective study. *Journal of educational psychology*, 104(1), 206. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025398
- Geary, Nicolas, Li, & Sun. (2018). Geary, D. C., Nicholas, A., Li, Y., & Sun, J. (2017) Domain-specific knowledge on mathematics achievement: An eight-year longitudinal study. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 109(5), 680–693. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000159
- Geary, D. C., van Marle, K., Chu, F. W., Rouder, J., Hoard, M. K., & Nugent, L. (2018). Early conceptual understanding of cardinality predicts superior school-entry number-system knowledge. *Psychological Science*, *29*(2), 191– 205. https://doi.org/10.1177/09567976 17729817

- Gelman, R. & Gallistel, C. R. (1978). *The Child's understanding of Number*. Harvards University Press.
- Gersten, R., Beckmann, S., Clarke, B.,
 Foegen, A., Marsh, L., Star, J. R., et al.
 (2009). Assisting Students
 Struggling with Mathematics:
 Response to Intervention (RtI) for
 Elementary and Middle Schools
 (NCEE 2009-4060). National Center
 for Education Evaluation and
 Regional Assistance, Institute of
 Education Sciences, U.S.
 Department of Education.
 https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/wwc/pract
 iceguide/2
- Gersten, R., Clarke, B., Haymond, K., & Jordan, N. (2011). Screening for mathematics difficulties in K-3 students. 2nd edition. Portsmouth, NH: RMC Research Corporation, Center on Instruction.
- Gersten, R., Clarke, B., & Jordan, N. (2007). Screening for mathematics difficulties in K-3 students. RMC Research Corporation, Center on Instruction.
- Gersten R., Ferrini-Mundy, J., Benbow, C., Clements, D.H., Loveless, T., Williams, V., & Arispe, I. (2008). Reports of the task groups and subcommittees. Washington, DC: USDE; 2008. Report of the task group on instructional practices. In National Mathematics Advisory Panel; pp. 6-i-6-224
- Ginsburg, H. P., & Baroody, A. J. (2003). Test of Early Math Achievement (3rd ed.). Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- Gray, S. A. & Reeve, R. A. (2016).

 Number-specific and general cognitive markers of preschoolers' math ability profiles. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 147, 1–21.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2016.02.004
- Gregory, R. J. (2015). *Psychological Testing: History, Principles and Applications.* 7th edition. Pearson.

- Griffin, S. (2003). The development of math competence in the preschool and early school years. In J. M. Royer (Ed.), *Mathematical Cognition* (pp. 1–32). Greenwich, CN: Information Age Publishing.
- Hannula-Sormunen, M., Lehtinen, E., & Räsänen, P. (2015) Preschool Children's Spontaneous Focusing on Numerosity, Subitizing, and Counting Skills as Predictors of Their Mathematical Performance Seven Years Later at School.

 Mathematical Thinking and Learning, 17(2-3), 155–177.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10986065.2015.1016814
- Hanushek, E. A., & Woessmann, L. (2010). The high cost of low educational performance: The longrun economic impact of improving PISA outcomes. OECD Publishing.
- Hempenstall, K. (2006). What does evidence-based practice in education mean? *Australian Journal of Learning Disabilities, 11(2),* 83-92, https://doi.org/10.1080/19404150 609546811
- Inhelder, B. & Piaget, J. (1958). *The Growth of Logical Thinking.*Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Jansen, B. R., Schmitz, E. A., & van der Maas, H. L. (2016). Affective and motivational factors mediate the relation between math skills and use of math in everyday life. Frontiers in Psychology, 7, 513. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.201 6.00513
- Jordan, N. C., Fuchs, L. S., & Dyson, N. (2015). Early number competencies and mathematical learning:
 Individual variation, screening, and intervention. In R. C. Kadosh & A. Dowker (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of numerical cognition* (pp. 1079-1098). https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199642342.013.010

- Jordan, N. C., Glutting, J., & Dyson, N. (2012). Number Sense Screener™ (NSS™). User's guide, K-1, Research Edition. Baltimore, MD: Brookes.
- Jordan, N. C., Glutting, J., & Ramineni, C. (2010). The importance of number sense to mathematics achievement in first and third grades. *Learning* and *Individual Differences*, 20(2), 82–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.20 09.07.004
- Jordan, N. C., Kaplan, D., Ramineni, C., & Locuniak, M. N. (2009). Early math matters: Kindergarten number competence and later mathematics outcomes. *Developmental Psychology*, 45(3), 850–867. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014939
- Jordan, N. C., & Levine, S. C. (2009). Socioeconomic variation, number competence, and mathematics learning difficulties in young children. *Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 15(1), 60-68. https://doi.org/10.1002/ddrr.46C
- Knops, A. (2019). Numerical Cognition. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/97813511 24805
- Koponen, T., Salminen, J., Aunio, P.,
 Polet, J., & Hellstrand, H. (2011a).
 LukiMat Bedömning av lärandet:
 Identifiering av stödbehov i
 matematik i förskola. Handbok.
 [LukiMat Assessment for
 Learning: Identifying Children in
 Need of Support in Mathematics in
 Kindergarten. Handbook].
 http://www.lukimat.fi/lukimatbedomning-avlarandet/material/identifiering-avstodbehov/forskola/f-mat-handbok
- Koponen, T., Salminen, J., Aunio, P., Polet, J., & Hellstrand, H. (2011b). LukiMat - Bedömning av lärandet: Identifiering av stödbehov i matematik i årskurs 1. Handbok. [LukiMat – Assessment for Learning: Identifying Children in Need of Support in Mathematics in

- First Grade. Handbook]. http://www.lukimat.fi/lukimatbedomning-avlarandet/material/identifiering-avstodbehov/ak-1/1-mat-handbok
- Koponen, T., Salminen, J., Aunio, P.,
 Polet, J., & Hellstrand, H. (2011c).

 LukiMat Bedömning av lärandet:
 Identifiering av stödbehov i
 matematik i årskurs 2. Handbok.
 [LukiMat Assessment for
 Learning: Identifying Children in
 Need of Support in Mathematics in
 Second Grade. Handbook].
 http://www.lukimat.fi/lukimatbedomning-avlarandet/material/identifiering-avstodbehov/ak-2/2-mat-handbok
- Korhonen, J., Linnanmäki, K., & Aunio, P. (2014). Learning difficulties, academic well-being and educational dropout: A personcentred approach. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 31, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2013.12.011
- Krajewski, K. & Schneider, W. (2009). Early development of quantity to number-word linkage as a precursor of mathematical school achievement and mathematical difficulties: Findings from a four-year longitudinal study. *Learning and Instruction, 19(6),* 513–526. doi:10.1016/j.learninstruc.2008.10.002
- Kroesbergen, E. H., & Van Luit, J. E. H. (2003). Mathematics interventions for children with special educational needs: A meta-analysis. *Remedial and Special Education*, 24(2), 97–114. https://doi.org/10.1177/07419325 030240020501
- LeFevre, J. A., Smith-Chant, B. L., Fast, L., Skwarchuk, S. L., Sargla, E., Arnup, J. S., Penner-Wilger, M., Bisanz, J., & Kamawar, D. (2006). What counts as knowing? The development of conceptual and procedural knowledge of counting from

- kindergarten through Grade 2. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, 93(4), 285–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.200 5.11.002
- Leino, K., Ahonen, A. K., Heinonen, N.,
 Hiltunen, J., Lintuvuori, M.,
 Lähteinen, S., Lämsä, J., Nissinen, K.,
 Nissinen, V., Puhakka, E., Pulkkinen,
 J., Rautopuro, J., Sirén, M.,
 Vainikainen, M.-P., & Vettenranta, J.
 (2019). PISA18 Ensituloksia: Suomi
 parhaiden joukossa. [PISA18
 Prelimary results: Finland in the
 top.]
 https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/
 bitstream/handle/10024/161922/
 Pisa 18ensituloksia.pdf?sequence=1&isAllo
 wed=y
- Li, Q. & Ma, X. (2010). A Meta-Analysis of the Effects of Computer Technology on School Students' Mathematics Learning. *Educational Psychology Review, 22 (3)*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-010-9125-8.
- Li, Y., Zhang, M., Chen, Y., Deng, Z., Zhu, X., & Yan, S. (2018). Children's nonsymbolic and symbolic numerical representations and their associations with mathematical ability. Frontiers in psychology, 9, 1035. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01035
- Libertus, M. E., Feigenson, L., & Halberda, J. (2013). Is approximate number precision a stable predictor of math ability? *Learning and Individual Differences*, 25, 126–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.20 13.02.001
- Libertus, M. E., Odic, D., Feigenson, L., & Halberda, J. (2016). The precision of mapping between number words and the approximate number system predicts children's formal math abilities. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 150, 207–226.

- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.201 6.06.003
- Lo, Y., Mendell, N. R., & Rubin, D. B. (2001). Testing the number of components in a normal mixture. *Biometrika*, 88(3), 767–778. https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/8 8.3.767
- Locuniak, M. N. & Jordan, N.C. (2008). Using kindergarten number sense to predict calculation fluency in second grade. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 41(5), 451–459. https://doi.org/10.1177/00222194 08321126
- Lyons, I. M., Bugden, S., Zheng, S., De Jesus, S., & Ansari, D. (2018). Symbolic number skills predict growth in nonsymbolic number skills in kindergarteners. *Developmental Psychology*, *54*(3), 440–457. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev00004 45
- Marsh, H. W., Hau, K. T., & Wen, Z. (2004). In search of golden rules: Comment on hypothesis-testing approaches to setting cutoff values for fit indexes and dangers in overgeneralizing Hu and Bentler's (1999) findings. Structural Equation Modeling, 11(3), 320–341. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15328007sem1103_2
- Mazzocco, M. M., & Räsänen, P. (2013). Contributions of longitudinal studies to evolving definitions and knowledge of developmental dyscalculia. *Trends in Neuroscience and Education, 2(2),* 65-73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tine.20 13.05.001
- Mononen, R., Aunio, P., Koponen, T., & Aro, M. (2014). A review of early numeracy interventions: Effectiveness and pedagogical implementation. International *Journal of Early Childhood Special Education*, 6(1), 25-54. https://doi.org/10.20489/intjecse. 14355

- Mulligan. J. & Vergnaud, G. (2006).

 Research on children's early
 mathematical development.
 Towards integrated perspectives. In
 A. Gutiérrez & P. Boero (Eds.),
 Handbook of Research on the
 Psychology of Mathematics
 Education: Past, Present and Future.
 (pp. 117–146). Sense Publishers
- Muthén L. K. & Muthén, B. O. (2015). Mplus User's Guide (7th ed.). Muthén & Muthén. (Original work published 1998)
- Obersteiner, A., Reiss, K., & Ufer, S. (2013). How Training on Exact or Approximate Mental Representations of Number Can Enhance First-Grade Students' Basic Number Processing and Arithmetic Skills. *Learning and Instruction*, 23, 125–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninst ruc.2012.08.004
- OECD. (2016). Socio-economic status, student performance and students' attitudes towards science. In PISA 2015 Results (Volume I): Excellence and Equity in Education. OECD Publishing. doi:10.1787/9789264266490-10-en
- Official Statistics of Finland (2019).

 Population according to language
 1980–2019. Statistics Finland.

 Appendix table 2.

 http://www.stat.fi/til/vaerak/2019
 /vaerak_2019_2020-0324_tau_002_en.html
- Parsons, S. & Bynner, J. (2005). Does numeracy matter more? National Research and Development Centre for Adult Literacy and Numeracy, NRDC: London. http://www.nrdc.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2005/01/Doesnumeracy-matter-more.pdf
- Pegg, J. (2003) Assessment in mathematics. A developmental Approach. In J. M. Royers (Ed.) Mathematical Cognition (pp. 227-

- 259). Information Age Publishing Inc.
- Penner, M., Buckland, C., & Moes, M. (2019). Early Identification of, and Interventions for, Kindergarten Students at Risk for Mathematics Difficulties. In K.M. Robinson, H.P. Osansa, & D. Kotsopoulus (Eds.). *Mathematical Learning and Cognition in Early Childhood* (pp. 57-78). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-12895-1_5
- Praet, M., & Desoete, A. (2014).
 Enhancing young children's arithmetic skills through nonintensive, computerised kindergarten interventions: A randomised controlled study.

 Teaching and Teacher Education, 39, 56-65.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.201 3.12.003.
- Price, G. R., & Ansari, D. (2013).

 Dyscalculia: Characteristics, causes, and treatments. *Numeracy*, *6*(1), 1-16.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.5038/1936-4660.6.1.2
- Purpura, D. J. & Lonigan, C. J. (2013). Informal numeracy skills: The structure and relations among numbering, relations, and arithmetic operations in preschool. *American Educational Research Journal*, 50(1), 178–209. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312 12465332
- Purpura, D.J. & Lonigan, C.J. (2015). Early Numeracy Assessment: The Development of the Preschool Early Numeracy Scales. *Early Education and Development, 26(2),* 286-313. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289 .2015.991084
- Reeve, R., Reynolds, F., Humberstone, J., & Butterworth, B. (2012). Stability and change in markers of core numerical competencies. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 141(4), 649–666. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027520

- Reigosa-Crespo, V., Valdés-Sosa, M., Butterworth, B., Estévez, N., Rodríguez, M., Santos, E., Torres, P., Suárez, R., & Lage, A. (2012). Basic numerical capacities and prevalence of developmental dyscalculia: The Havana Survey. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(1), 123–135. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025356
- Ricken, G., Fritz, A., & Balzer, L. (2013).

 MARKO-D Matematik und Rechnen
 Test zur Erfassung von Konzepten im
 Vorshualter [MARKO-D- matematics
 and arithmetic test for assessing
 concepts at preschool age].
 Göttingen, Germany: Hogrefe.
- Ritchie, S. J., & Bates, T. C. (2013).

 Enduring links from childhood mathematics and reading achievement to adult socioeconomic status. *Psychological Science*, *24*(7), 1301–1308.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/09567976 12466268
- Rittle-Johnson, B. & Siegler, R. S. (1998). The relation between conceptual and procedural knowledge in learning mathematics: A review. In C. Donlan (Ed.). *The development of mathematical skills* (pp. 75–110). Hove, UK: Psychology Press.
- Rousselle, L., & Noël, M. P. (2007). Basic numerical skills in children with mathematics learning disabilities: A comparison of symbolic vs nonsymbolic number magnitude processing. *Cognition*, 102(3), 361-395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2006.01.005
- Ryoo, J. H., Molfese, V. J., Brown, E. T., Karp, K. S., Welch, G.W., & Bovaird, J. A. (2015). Examining factor structures on the Test of Early Mathematics Ability—3: A longitudinal approach. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 41, 21-29. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2015.06.003
- Räsänen, P. (2015). Computer-assisted interventions on basic number skills. In R. C. Kadosh & A. Dowker

- (Eds.), Oxford library of psychology. The Oxford handbook of numerical cognition (p. 745–766). Oxford University Press.
- Räsänen, P., Salminen, J., Wilson, A. J., Aunio, P., & Dehaene, S. (2009). Computer-assisted intervention for children with low numeracy skills. *Cognitive Development, 24,* 450-472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2 009.09.003.
- Salminen, J. B., Koponen, T. K., Leskinen, M., Poikkeus, A. M., & Aro, M. T. (2015). Individual variance in responsiveness to early computerized mathematics intervention. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 43, 124-131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.20 15.09.002.
- Salminen, J. B., Koponen, T. K., & Tolvanen, A. J. (2018). Individuality in the early number skill components underlying basic arithmetic skills. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 1056. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01056
- Sarama, J., & Clements, D. H. (2009). Early childhood mathematics education research: Learning trajectories for young children. Routledge.
- Sasanguie, D., Göbel, S. M., Moll, K., Smets, K., & Reynvoet, B. (2013). Approximate number sense, symbolic number processing, or number–space mappings: What underlies mathematics achievement? *Journal of experimental child psychology*, 114(3), 418-431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2012.10.012.
- Schneider, M., K. Beeres, L. Coban, S. Merz, S.S. Schmidt, J. Stricker, B. De Smedt. (2017). Associations of Nonsymbolic and Symbolic Numerical Magnitude Processing with Mathematical Competence: A Metaanalysis. *Developmental Science 20*:

- e12372. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.1237
- Sella, F., Tressoldi, P., Lucangeli, D., & Zorzi, M. (2016). Training numerical skills with the adaptive videogame "The Number Race": A randomized controlled trial on preschoolers. *Trends in Neuroscience and Education*, *5*(1), 20-29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tine.201 6.02.002.
- Seo, Y. J., & Bryant, D. P. (2009).
 Analysis of studies of the effects of computer-assisted instruction on the mathematics performance of students with learning disabilities.
 Computers & Education, 53(3), 913-928.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2009.05.002
- Siegler, R. S. (1996). Emerging minds: The process of change in children's thinking (1st ed.). New York: Oxford University Press
- Siegler, R. S., & Ramani, G. B. (2009). Playing linear number board games—but not circular ones—improves low-income preschoolers' numerical understanding. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 101(3), 545. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2008.00714.x.
- Sophian, C. (1998). A developmental perspective on children's counting. In C. Donlan (Ed.). *The development of mathematical skills* (pp. 27–46). Hove, UK: Psychology Press.
- Starkey, P., Klein, A., & Wakeley, A. (2004). Enhancing young children's mathematical knowledge through a pre-kindergarten mathematics intervention. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 19, 99-120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2 004.01.002
- Steffe, L. P. (1992). Schemes of action and operation involving composite units. *Learning and Individual Differences*, *4*, 259–309.

- doi:10.1016/1041-6080(92)90005-y
- Stock, P., Desoete, A., & Roeyers, H. (2007). Early markers for arithmetic difficulties. *Educational and Child Psychology*, 24(2), 28-39.
- Stultz, S. L. (2017). Computer-assisted mathematics instruction for students with specific learning disability: A review of the literature. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 32(4), 210-219. https://doi.org/10.1177/01626434 17725881.
- Szűcs, D., & Myers, T. (2017). A critical analysis of design, facts, bias and inference in the approximate number system training literature: A systematic review. *Trends in Neuroscience and Education, 6,* 187-203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tine.2016.11.002.
- Tabachnick, B. G. & Fidell, L. S. (2007). *Using multivariate statistics*. Fifth edition. Pearson.
- Terwee, C. B., Prinsen, C. A. C., Chiarotto, A., De Vet, H. C. W., Westerman, M. J., Patrick, D. L., Alonso, J., Bouter, L. M., Mokkink, L. B. (2017). COSMIN standards and criteria for evaluating the content validity of health-related Patient-Reported Outcome Measures: a Delphi study. *Quality of Life Research, 27(5)*, 1159-1170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-018-1829-0
- Ukkola, A. & Metsämuuronen, J. (2019). Alkumittaus – matematiikan ja äidinkielen ja kirjallisuuden osaaminen ensimmäisen luokan alussa. [Starting level - assessment of learning outcomes among firstgrade pupils in basic education.] Kansallinen koulutuksen arviointikeskus (KARVI).
- Vanbinst, K., Ansari, D., Ghesquière, P., & De Smedt, B. (2016). Symbolic numerical magnitude processing is as important to arithmetic as

- phonological awareness is to reading. *PLoS ONE, 11(3)*, e0151045. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.po ne.0151045
- Vanbinst, K., Ceulemans, E., Ghesquière, P., & De Smedt, B. (2015). Profiles of children's arithmetic fact development: a model-based clustering approach. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, 133,* 29-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2015.01.003
- Vanbinst, K., Ceulemans, E., Peters, L., Ghesquière, P., & De Smedt, B. (2018). Developmental trajectories of children's symbolic numerical magnitude processing skills and associated cognitive competencies. *Journal of experimental child psychology*, 166, 232-250.
- Vanbinst, K., Ghesquière, P., & De Smedt, B. (2012). Numerical magnitude representations and individual differences in children's arithmetic strategy use. *Mind, Brain and Education, 6,* 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-228X.2012.01148.x
- Vanbinst, K., Ghesquière, P., & De Smedt, B. (2019). Is the long-term association between symbolic numerical magnitude processing and arithmetic bi-directional? *Journal of Numerical Cognition*, *5*(3), 358–370. https://doi.org/10.5964/jnc.v5i3.2 02
- Van Luit, J.E.H., Van de Rijt. B.A.M., & Pennings, A.H. (1994). *Utrechtse Getalbegrip Toets* [Utrecht Early Mathematical Competence Scales]. Graviant.
- Weiland, C., Wolfe, C.B., Hurwitz, M.D., Clements, D.H., Sarama, J.H., & Hirokazu, Y. (2012). Early mathematics assessment: validation of the short form of a prekindergarten and kindergarten mathematics measure. An

- International Journal of Experimental Educational Psychology, 32(3), 311-333. doi:10.1080/01443410.2011.65419
- Widlund, A., Tuominen, H., & Korhonen, J. (2018). Academic well-being, mathematics performance, and educational aspirations in lower secondary education: Changes within a school year. Frontiers in psychology, 9, 297. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00297
- Widlund, A., Tuominen, H., Tapola, A., & Korhonen, J. (2020). Gendered pathways from academic performance, motivational beliefs, and school burnout to adolescents' educational and occupational aspirations. *Learning and Instruction*, 66, 101299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninst ruc.2019.101299
- Wilson, A. J., Dehaene, S., Pinel, P., Revkin, S. K., Cohen, L., & Cohen, D. (2006). Principles underlying the design of "The Number Race", an adaptive computer game for remediation of dyscalculia. Behavioral and brain functions, 2(1), 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-9081-2-19.
- Wilson, A. J., Revkin, S. K., Cohen, D., Cohen, L., & Dehaene, S. (2006). An open trial assessment of" The Number Race", an adaptive computer game for remediation of dyscalculia. *Behavioral and brain functions*, 2(1), 20. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-9081-2-20.
- Wilson, A. J., Dehaene, S., Dubois, O., & Fayol, M. (2009). Effects of an adaptive game intervention on accessing number sense in low-socioeconomic-status kindergarten children. *Mind, Brain, and Education, 3(4),* 224-234. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-228X.2009.01075.x

- World Health Organization. (2016).

 International statistical

 classification of diseases and related
 health problems (10th ed.).
 https://icd.who.int/browse10/201
 6/en
- Wright, R. J. (1994). A study of the numerical development of 5-yearolds and 6-year-olds. *Educational Studies in Mathematics, 26 (1), 25-*44. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF012732 99
- Wright, R. J., Martland, J., & Stafford, A. K. (2006). *Early numeracy Assessment for teaching and intervention*. Paul Chapman.
- Wright, R.J., Martland, J. & Stafford, A.K. (2006). Early Numeracy. Assessment for teaching & intervention. SAGE Publications.
- Wynn, K. (1998). Numerical competence in infants. In C. Donlan

- (Ed.). *The development of mathematical skills* (pp. 27–46). Psychology Press.
- Zhang, X., Räsänen, P., Koponen, T., Aunola, K., Lerkkanen, M. K., & Nurmi, J. E. (2020). Early cognitive precursors of children's mathematics learning disability and persistent low achievement: A 5-year longitudinal study. *Child development*, 91(1), 7-27. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.1312
- Young, M. F., Slota, S., Cutter, A. B., Jalette, G., Mullin, G., Lai, B., Simeoni, Z., Tran, M., & Yukhymenko, M. (2012). Our princess is in another castle: A review of trends in serious gaming for education. *Review of educational research*, *82*(1), 61-89. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543 12436980

Appendix

Table A1Examples of Test Items in the EN-test in Kindergarten, First Grade and Second Grade

Level	Skill group	Content	Example item	Number of items		
				T1	T2	T
Kindergarten	Symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge	Understanding magnitudes embedded in the number word	"Here you see three numbers. Which is the largest number?" (e.g., 3, 5, and 2)	4	3	-
	(NK)	sequence (number range: 0-10)	"Here you see three numbers. Which is the smallest number?" (e.g., 3, 5, and 2)	4	3	-
	Understanding mathematical relations (MR)	Comparing magnitudes and seriation	"Look at these four squares. In which square do you have most stars?"	2	-	-
		(number range: 0-10)	"Look at these four squares. In which square do you have more stars than trees?"	2	-	-
			"Look at these four squares. In which square do you have the same number of stars and trees?"	2	-	-
			"Look at these four squares. In which square do you have fewer stars than trees?"	2	-	-
			"Look at this row with stars. Put a cross on the fourth star."	4	-	4
			"These pyramids are arranged from largest to smallest. Where does this pyramid fit?"	4	-	-
	recognitio writing Counting t back, coun from a giv	identification, recognition and	"Look at these four squares with dots. I will say a number. Mark the square with the same number of dots as the number I say."	2	2	-
		Counting up and back, count up from a given number	"Look at these four numbers. I will say a number. Mark the same number symbol as the number I say."	2	2	
		(number range: 0-30)	"Look at these dots. How many dots do you see? Mark the number symbol that is the same as the number of dots."	2	2	
			"Look at this number symbol. Mark the square with the same number of dots as the number you see."	2	2	
			"In this box, we have coins. There are three coins in the box. In which box is it two more?" (The numbers are presented with number symbols.)	-	-	2
			"In this box, we have coins. There are three coins in the box. In which box is it two less?"	-	-	
			"I would like to know how high you can count. Start counting from number 1. I will tell when to stop."	3	3	
			"I would like to hear you count more. Count as high as you can, but now start counting from number 4. I will tell when to stop."	3	3	:
			"I would like to know if you can count backwards. Start from number 6, and I will tell when to stop."	2	2	

			"In this task, we have stars. Some stars are visible, some are hidden. How many stars are hidden when there are five stars altogether?"	-	-	3
	Basic skills in arithmetic (BA)	Addition with verbal stories Subtraction with verbal stories (number range: 0-10)	"You have two coins (the child sees a picture with two coins) and you get two more. How many coins do you have now? Choose your answer from the given numbers." "You have three coins (the child	4	-	4
			sees a picture with three coins) and give away one. How many coins do you have left? Choose your answer from the given numbers."			
First grad	e Symbolic and non-symbolic number knowledge (NK)	Understanding magnitudes embedded in the number word sequence (number range: 0-25)	"In this basket, you have two boxes with money. In the first box, you have three coins and in the other box two coins. Altogether there are five coins in this basket. In this basket, you have also two boxes. In the first box, you have four coins and in the other box no (zero) coins. In which basket, do you have more coins?"	4	-	-
			"Look at these three squares. In which square are the numbers	4	-	-
			arranged from smallest to largest?" "Look at these two numbers (e.g., 7 and 4). 7 is bigger than 4, but how much bigger is it? Choose your answer from the given	-	3	-
			alternatives." "Look at these two numbers (e.g., 4 and 7). 7 is smaller than 4, but how much smaller is it? Choose your answer from the given alternatives."	-	3	-
			"Look at these numbers (e.g., 31 52 36 47). Which is the biggest number?" "Look at these numbers (e.g., 31 52 36 47). "Which is the smallest	-	-	3
			number?"			
	Understanding mathematical relations (MR)	Comparing magnitudes, seriation,	"Look at these four squares with stars and trees. In which square do you have more stars than trees?"	2	-	-
		one-to-one- correspondence (number range: 0-70)	"Look at these four squares with stars and trees. In which square do you have fewer stars than trees?"	2	-	-
			"Look at these four squares with gloves. Three boys are going out. How many gloves do they need?"	4	-	-
			"Look at these three numbers. Can you find out which is the next number?" (e.g., 3, 4, 5, _)	4	3	3
			"Look at these three numbers. Can you find out which is the next number?" (e.g., 6, 5, 4, _)	4	3	3
	Counting skills (CS)	Counting numerosity of a set, counting part of a whole	"In this task, we have stars. Some stars are visible, some are hidden. How many stars are hidden when	4	-	-
		Counting up and back, count up from a given number (number range:	there are five stars altogether?" "In this box, we have coins. There are three coins in the box. In which box is it two more?" (The numbers are presented with number symbols.)	2	-	-
		0-30)	"In this box, we have coins. There	2	-	-

			are three coins in the box. In which box is it two less?" "I would like to know how high you can count. Start from number 1, and I will tell when to stop." "I would like to know if you can count backwards. Start from number 6, and I will tell when to stop." "I would like to know if you can count up with skipping one each time, like this: two, four, six Now it is your turn, start from number 2, and I will tell when you can stop."	3 3 2		-
	Basic skills in arithmetic (BA)	Addition stories and with symbols Subtraction	You have two coins, and you get two more. How many do you have now?" "Look at this row. Can you solve	4	-	-
		stories and with symbols (number range:	this task? Choose your answer from the given numbers." (e.g., 4+3 alternatives 5, 6, and 7) "You have three coins and give	4	-	_
		0-15)	away one, how many do you have left?" "Look at this row. Can you solve this task? Choose your answer from the given numbers." (e.g., 7–3, alternatives 3, 4, and 5)	4	-	-
			"Look at this row. Can you solve this task? Write your answer on the line." (e.g., 4+3)	-	8	6
			"Look at this row. Can you solve this task? Write your answer on the line." (e.g., 7–3)	-	8	6
			"Look at this row. Which number is missing? Write your answer on the line." (e.g., 7=4)	-	4	4
			"Look at this row. Which number is missing? Write your answer on the line." (e.g., 7=4)	-	4	4
Second grade	Symbolic and non-symbolic number	Understanding magnitudes embedded in the	"Look at these numbers (e.g., 31 52 36 47). Which is the biggest number?"	4	4	6
	knowledge number word (NK) sequence (number range: 0-9000)	"Look at these numbers (e.g., 31 52 36 47). "Which is the smallest number?"	4	-	-	
		"Look at these three numbers. Arrange the numbers from smallest to largest?"	-	-	3	
	Understanding mathematical relations (MR)	Seriation (number range: 0-50)	"Look at these numbers (e.g., 3, 4, 5, _). Can you find out which is the next number?"	4	-	-
			"Look at these numbers (e.g., 6, 5, 4,). Can you find out which is the next number?"	4	-	-
	Counting skills (CS)	Number identification, recognition, and writing (number range: 0-300)	"I will tell you a number. Write the number with number symbols."	8	-	-

Basic skills in arithmetic (BA)	Addition with symbols Subtraction with symbols (time limit) (number range:	"You will now get some addition tasks. Solve a task and write your answer in the square, and then go to the next task. Solve as many tasks as you can." (e.g., 8+1 and 7+5; time limit)	20	20	20
	0-20)	"You will now get some subtraction tasks. Solve a task and write your answer in the square, and then go to the next task. Solve as many tasks as you can." (e.g., 8–1 and 15–6; time limit)	20	20	20
		"Here are some addition tasks. Solve a task and write your answer in the square. (e.g., 18+21 and 27+35)	-	8	8
		"Here are some subtraction tasks. Solve a task and write your answer in the square. (e.g., 18–12 and 51– 36)	-	8	8

Heidi Hellstrand

Early Numeracy Development:

Identifying and Supporting Children at Risk for Mathematical Learning Difficulties

Identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties are important in order to provide all children with foundational early numeracy skills in kindergarten and early school years. Consequently, evidence-based tools for identification and support and an understanding of distinct early numeracy skills are needed. The present thesis investigates how early numeracy skills develop and are interrelated over time, examines the psychometric criteria of the Early Numeracy test and investigates the effects of a computer-assisted intervention program on children's early numeracy skills. Overall, the results highlight the importance of using evidence-based tools for identifying and supporting children's early numeracy skills development in kindergarten, first and second grades. Furthermore, the results support a multidimensional construct of early numeracy skills, where counting skills and basic arithmetical skills seems to be important predictors of later early numeracy skills in the early school years. Further, the validity and reliability evidence of the Early Numeracy test was supported, indicating that the test fulfil its purpose to identify children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties. Lastly, in the computer-assisted intervention including the Number Race-game, low-performing children did not improve their early numeracy skills compared to the control groups, indicating a need for interventions targeting specific early numeracy skills. This thesis contributes to the research on early numeracy development by focusing on identifying and supporting children at risk for mathematical learning difficulties in kindergarten and early school years, with a focus on improving evidence-based educational practice.